
 
 

 

 
Meeting of:   

 
Strategic Place Board  

Date: Wednesday, 10th February, 2021 
Time: 2.00 pm. 
Venue: Virtual via zoom and on YouTube 

 
This agenda gives notice of items to be considered in private as required by 
Regulations 5 (4) and (5) of The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) 
(Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012. 

Item 
No. 

AGENDA Page No 

1   Apologies   

 To receive any apologies for absence.  

2   Declarations of Interest   

 Members are required to declare any disclosable pecuniary, personal 

or personal and prejudicial interests they may have and the nature of 

those interests relating to items on this agenda and/or indicate if S106 

of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 applies to them.    

 

3   Minutes  3 - 4 

 To consider the minutes of the meeting of the Strategic Place Board 

held on 11 August 2020. 

 

4   Urgent Items of Business   

 To determine whether there are any additional items of business 

which, by reason of special circumstances, the Chair decides should 

be considered at the meeting as a matter of urgency. 

 

5   Items for Exclusion of Public and Press   

 To determine any items on the agenda, if any, where the public are to 

be excluded from the meeting. 

 

 

Public Document Pack



 

6   Bury, Rochdale and Oldham Child Death Overview Panel Annual 

Report 2019-2020  

5 - 32 

 To consider the attached Annual Report   

7   Greater Manchester Child Death Overview Panel Annual Report 

2019-2020  

33 - 54 

 To consider the attached Annual Report  

8   National Child Mortality Database Annual Report 2019-2020  55 - 67 

 To consider the attached Annual Report  

9   Covid Outbreak Control update   

 To receive an update from the Director of Public Health  

 

Strategic Place Board ( formerly HWBB) Members 
Councillor Iftikhar Ahmed Dr Bodrul Alam 
Jon Aspinall Rob Bellingham 
Councillor Ashley Dearnley Dr Chris Duffy 
Andrea Fallon Councillor Kieran Heakin 
Gail Hopper Jane Jackson 
Councillor Sara Rowbotham John Paul Ruffle 
Steve Rumbelow Councillor Susan Smith 
Steve Taylor Keith Walker 
Michelle Warburton  
 

For more information about this meeting, please contact  
Alison James 
01706 924829 
 



STRATEGIC PLACE BOARD ( FORMERLY HWBB) 
 

MINUTES OF MEETING 
Tuesday, 11th September 2020 

 
PRESENT: Councillor Rowbotham (in the Chair); Councillor Ifikhar Ahmed, 
Councillor Massey (substituting for Councillor Heakin), Andrea Fallon, Gail 
Hopper, Sally McIvor (Rochdale Borough Council); Dr Bodrul Alam (HMR 
CCG), Sian Wimbury (Pennine Care NHS Foundation Trust), Steve Taylor 
(Northern Care NHS Alliance) and K. Jones (HealthWatch Rochdale) 
 
 
OFFICERS: W. Meston (Public Health and Wellbeing Directorate), M. 
Garraway and P. Thompson (Resources Directorate) 
 

17 APOLOGIES 
Apologies for absence were received from Kerry Bertram, Councillor 
Dearnley, Dr Chris Duffy, Councillor Heakin, Steve Rumbelow and Keith 
Walker.  
 

18 MINUTES 
Resolved: 
That the Minutes of the meeting of the Strategic Place Board, held 13th 
February 2020, be approved as a correct record. 
 

19 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
There were no declarations of interests. 
 

20 COVID-19 OUTBREAK CONTROL PLAN 
The Director of Public Health and Wellbeing reported that as part of the 
response to the Covid-19 each locality, within the Borough had to produce an 
Outbreak Plan for Covid-19 to explain how local areas will prevent and 
respond to a localised outbreak of coronavirus. 
 
This plan sets the authority’s local response working within the context of a 
Greater Manchester and national response. The initial plan was developed by 
public health experts on behalf of local experts to respond specifically to the 
coronavirus and Covid-19 disease. This had been built upon and within the 
context of a broader Outbreak Control Plan that supported rather than 
replaced. 
 
The plan established the Borough’s approach to outbreak control for 
coronavirus. It supported the work of local agencies in order to maximise 
efforts to control the spread of the virus and to reduce the consequences of 
infections to individuals, settings and communities. 
 
The plan was a working document and would continue to evolve and be 
informed by local circumstances and emerging evidence. 
 
Resolved: 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



That the report be noted. 
 

21 ESTABLISHMENT OF A MEMBER LED ENGAGEMENT BOARD 
The Director of Public Health and Wellbeing reported that in June 2020 local 
government and directors of public health had been identified as critical in 
managing the next phase of the COVID-19 pandemic: testing, contact tracing 
and outbreak management. Therefore local authorities had been asked by the 
Government to:  

a. Establish a member-led Local Outbreak Control Board. 
b. Establish a director of public health-led Health Protection Board 

(leading on Covid-19). 
c. Develop a Local Outbreak Control Plan.  

The Board will be a formally constituted Sub-Committee of the Strategic Place 
Board which will appoint a suitable membership, appoint the Chair of the 
Board and approve its terms of reference. 
 
In considering the report, Members whilst supporting the establishment of this 
body requested that a further report be submitted to the next meeting of the 
Strategic Place Board confirming the membership. 
 
Alternatives considered: The Council is required to establish a body as part of 
the national Test and Trace Service that is designed to control the rate of 
reproduction of Covid-19 by reducing the spread of the infection in the 
Borough. 
 
Resolved: 

1. The establishment of the Member led Engagement Board be approved 
as a Sub-Committee of the Strategic Place Board. 

2. The Board be referred to as the Rochdale Borough Outbreak Control 
and Engagement Board. 

3. The draft Terms of Reference be approved in principle and the final 
terms of reference, after the membership has been confirmed, be 
delegated to the Chair of the Strategic Place Board to approve, in 
consultation with the Assistant Director - Legal, Governance and 
Workforce/Monitoring Officer and further amendments be delegated to 
the Rochdale Borough Outbreak Engagement Board and reported to 
the Chair of the Strategic Place Board. 

4. The Director of Public health and Wellbeing be requested to submit a 
further report, to the next meeting of the Strategic Place Board, on 23rd 
September 2020, confirming the membership of the Rochdale Borough 
Outbreak Control and Engagement Board. 

5. The appointment of the Chair be delegated to the Rochdale Borough 
Outbreak Engagement Board determination at its first public meeting. 

 

Page 4



 
 

 

Oldham, Rochdale and Bury 
Child Death Review Panel 

(CDOP) 
 

 

 

 

2019/2020 Annual Report 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  Data Analysis & Author:  Dr Annie Lowe,  
                                                                                       Public Health Registrar, Oldham Council 
  Support:   Dr Rebecca Fletcher, PhD,  
                                                                                       Consultant in Public Health 
                                                                                       Bury, Rochdale and Oldham CDOP Chair 
       
 
 

Publication:  January 2021  

 

BURY, ROCHDALE & OLDHAM 
 

Child Death Overview Panel 
 

Annual Report 

 

April 2019 – March 2020 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 5

Agenda Item 6



2 
 

Contents 

Key Findings in Oldham, Bury and Rochdale (ORB) ............................................................................ 3 

Introduction ............................................................................................................................................ 5 

Infant Mortality in the UK and comparisons with ORB ....................................................................... 5 

Overview of Oldham, Bury and Rochdale Population aged under 18yrs ........................................... 7 

Reviews of child death cases 2019/2020 ................................................................................................ 7 

Closed Cases 2019/2020 ..................................................................................................................... 7 

Notified cases 2019/2020 ................................................................................................................... 9 

Duration of Reviews ............................................................................................................................ 9 

Expected/ unexpected deaths .......................................................................................................... 10 

Location of Death .............................................................................................................................. 11 

Causes/Category of Death ................................................................................................................ 11 

Socio-demographics of cases closed in 2019/2020 .............................................................................. 12 

Gender .............................................................................................................................................. 12 

Ethnicity ............................................................................................................................................ 13 

Inequalities & Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) ......................................................................... 14 

Age at death ...................................................................................................................................... 16 

Low birth weight and Prematurity .................................................................................................... 17 

Modifiable and other risk factors ......................................................................................................... 19 

Factors Identified that may have contributed to vulnerability, ill health or death .......................... 19 

Modifiable Factors ............................................................................................................................ 20 

Other Identified Risk Factors ............................................................................................................ 21 

Understanding Modifiable Risk Factors and Local Initiatives ............................................................... 22 

Maternal Raised BMI ........................................................................................................................ 22 

Maternal Smoking in Pregnancy ....................................................................................................... 23 

Risk factors associated with Sudden, Unexpected, Unexplained Deaths: Parental Smoking & 

Unsafe Sleeping................................................................................................................................. 23 

Parental Alcohol/Substance Misuse ................................................................................................. 24 

Consanguinity.................................................................................................................................... 25 

Access to Appropriate Health/Social Care ........................................................................................ 25 

Saving Babies Lives ............................................................................................................................ 25 

Emotional/behavioural/mental/physical health condition in a parent or carer .............................. 26 

Accidents and Trauma ...................................................................................................................... 26 

Other Risk Factors: ............................................................................................................................ 27 

Recommendations and Actions ............................................................................................................ 28 

 

Page 6



3 
 

Executive Summary: 

 

This is an annual review of the Child Death Overview Panel (CDOP) data for Oldham, Rochdale and 

Bury (ORB), which combine to make one of the four CDOPs in Greater Manchester (GM). The CDOP 

reviews all child deaths under 18 years, but not including still births, late foetal loss or termination of 

pregnancy. The panel do not determine the cause of death but instead explores all the factors 

surrounding the death of the child. This learning enables required actions to be taken to protect the 

welfare of children and prevent future deaths.  

Every year, each CDOP collates information on the cases that have been closed in the last 12 months 

in order to review for themes. This enables each area to identify any lessons learnt and recognise 

where population level interventions are required to reduce future child deaths. The report is 

supported by a GM report which gives an overview of patterns across all four CDOPS. In view of the 

relatively small numbers, and consequent difficulties with data analysis, this can be helpful when 

analysing for themes.  

 

Key Findings in Oldham, Bury and Rochdale (ORB)  
 

In 2019/2020 there were 79 notified cases and 29 closed cases. It is pertinent to note that this report 

looks in detail at the 29 closed cases, however these deaths did not necessarily occur in the last 12 

months. Only once a case is closed is there the level of detail required to develop a narrative 

surrounding the death and therefore draw out themes. The duration of the review process can vary 

meaning that not all cases are closed in the same year that they are notified. The 79 notified cases in 

2019/2020 are children that have died in the last 12 months, however at the time of writing this 

report these cases have not yet been reviewed. It is important to hold this in mind when interpreting 

the results of this report. This year closed cases numbers have been low across GM, and nationally, 

due to the introduction of new guidance and the additional workload associated with this change in 

practise. In addition, local factors such as a period of vacancy in the CDOP officer role and an 

organisational restructure of the local acute care provider, have created a backlog of cases which the 

team are currently working through.  

The closed cases for the ORB CDOP equate to 33% of the total closed cases across GM, and ORB has 

a higher rate of notified cases, 5.09 per 10,000 compared to GM at 3.74 per 10,000. This is a 

consequence of the high rates of notified cases in Oldham, 7.22 per 10,000. The duration of review 

of cases was on average 579 days across ORB, this is longer than the average duration across GM 

which is 391 days. This is due the review duration in Oldham (633 days) and Rochdale (618 days), the 

highest in Greater Manchester. Many factors can affect the duration of the review process for 

example if a case requires a serious case review or Coroner’s Inquest, the case will be delayed.  

66% of the closed cases across ORB were expected deaths and 69% occurred within a hospital 

setting, with home setting being the second most common location. Males were overrepresented in 

closed cases at 62%, this is consistent with GM and national findings year on year, the reason for this 

is unclear.  

Page 7



4 
 

Children are at the highest risk of death in the first year of life, and this is identified within the ORB 

data, 34% of cases were in the neonatal period and 58% in the first year of life. In relation to this, 

perinatal and neonatal events continue to be the most common cause of death, this is consistent 

with GM and national findings. Across ORB 35% deaths were caused by a perinatal/neonatal event, 

the leading cause of child death locally and nationally. The second most common cause of death was 

chromosomal/genetic/congenital abnormalities equating to 18% of the closed cases.  

It is important to note that all the closed cases related to chromosomal, genetic and congenital 

abnormalities were children of BME ethnicity, and overall, there were higher rates of child deaths in 

BME groups across Bury and Oldham, but not Rochdale. This was consistent across GM and it is 

important that this inequality is addressed. Consanguinity is a known risk factor for congenital 

abnormalities and therefore an important risk factor when addressing child deaths. However, in the 

closed cases in this report where chromosomal, genetic and congenital causes were identified as the 

cause of death, consanguinity was not found to be a factor associated with the deaths.  

Oldham and Rochdale also have higher rates of deprivation when compared to the North West and 

nationally. In relation to child deaths, there is a clear trend that as levels of deprivation increase, so 

do the number of child deaths. In ORB 31% of cases were in the most deprived decile and 79% were 

in the 5 lowest deciles, where decile 1 equate to the 10% most deprived of the population.  

Modifiable risk factors are areas which may contribute to an increased risk of child death, and if 

addressed at a population level can reduce the risk of future child deaths. 31% of closed cases had 

modifiable risk factors identified. Modifiable factors recognised by GM that were identified in ORB 

cases included: Maternal obesity, maternal smoking in pregnancy, parental smoking and unsafe 

sleeping. Other factors identified included drug and alcohol use, hospital and clinical factors and 

housing issues. Maternal obesity was the most common risk factor identified followed by maternal 

smoking in pregnancy. In 59% of the child deaths occurring in children under the age of 1, the 

mother was classified as obese or overweight. Until recent years this factor was not documented by 

the CDOP. This data highlights the risks associated with maternal obesity, and that this modifiable 

factor is becoming increasingly common. This is also reflected in the GM data.  

 

  

Page 8



5 
 

Introduction 
 

The aim of this report is to analyse the child deaths within Oldham, Bury and Rochdale (ORB), to 

make observations on the causes and modifiable factors, in order to identify recurring themes. This 

helps guide population level interventions to reduce childhood mortality within the area. This annual 

report is presented to the Health and Wellbeing board to inform on the findings, the current 

interventions in place and future recommendations.  

When a child dies a review process occurs to enable learning and to identify where changes could be 

made to prevent similar child deaths in the future. The Child Death Overview Panel (CDOP) will 

review the child deaths of all children under 18-years, but not including still births, late foetal loss or 

termination of pregnancy. Oldham, Bury and Rochdale combine to make one of the four CDOPS in 

GM.  

The four CDOPs in Greater Manchester are split as follows:  

 Manchester North – Oldham, Bury, Rochdale, CDOP 

 Manchester South -Tameside, Trafford, Stockport CDOP 

 Manchester West -Bolton, Salford, Wigan CDOP 

 Manchester City -Manchester CDOP  

Every year, each CDOP collates information on the child death in the last 12 months to enable 

thematic learning to guide decision making on population level interventions. The report is 

supported by a GM report which gives an overview of patterns across all four CDOPS. In view of the 

relatively small numbers, and subsequent difficulties with data analysis, this can be helpful when 

analysing themes. 

This report includes information for cases closed between 1st April 2019 and 31st March 2020. During 

this time there were 129 closed cases and 241 notified cases of child death across GM. Within the 

ORB CDOP there were 29 closed cases and 79 notified cases. A case is defined as closed at the end of 

the CDOP review process.   

 

Infant Mortality in the UK and comparisons with ORB  

 

Over recent decades the UKs infant mortality rates has fallen, however the rate of improvement has 

slowed when compared to other European countries. After three years of slight increases in infant 

mortality between 2014 and 2017, a small decrease was noted in national data in 20181.  

Across the UK, there are inequalities in child deaths and factors such as geography, deprivation and 

ethnicity affect rates of childhood mortality. For example, infant mortality rates are significantly 

higher in the 10% most deprived areas compared with the 10% least deprived areas in England. In 

                                                           
1https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/childhealth/articles/ukdropsi
neuropeanchildmortalityrankings/2017-10-13 

Page 9

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/childhealth/articles/ukdropsineuropeanchildmortalityrankings/2017-10-13
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/childhealth/articles/ukdropsineuropeanchildmortalityrankings/2017-10-13


6 
 

addition, infant mortality rates are highest among babies of Pakistani ethnicity and lowest in babies 

of white ethnicity2. These themes are reflected within this report.  

The crude rate Infant mortality (2016-2018) across England is 3.9 per 1000 births, across the North 

West it is higher than nationally at 4.6 per 1000 births. Whilst Bury and Rochdale have a similar 

infant mortality rate to the rest of England, Oldham performs worse at 5.5 per 1000, this is 

demonstrated in figure 1.  

Figure 1: Infant Mortality Rate, per 1000 births, by local authority, 2016-2018  

 

Source: Office for National Statistics (ONS). 

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/search/Infant%20mortality#page/3/gid/1/pat/6/par/E12000002/ati/202/are/E08000002/iid/92

196/age/2/sex/4/cid/4/tbm/1/page-options/ovw-do-0_cin-ci-4_car-do-1 

 

 

 

                                                           
2https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/bulletins/childh
oodinfantandperinatalmortalityinenglandandwales/2018#:~:text=1.-
,Main%20points,of%203.6%20recorded%20in%202014 

Page 10

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/bulletins/childhoodinfantandperinatalmortalityinenglandandwales/2018#:~:text=1.-,Main%20points,of%203.6%20recorded%20in%202014
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/bulletins/childhoodinfantandperinatalmortalityinenglandandwales/2018#:~:text=1.-,Main%20points,of%203.6%20recorded%20in%202014
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/bulletins/childhoodinfantandperinatalmortalityinenglandandwales/2018#:~:text=1.-,Main%20points,of%203.6%20recorded%20in%202014


7 
 

Overview of Oldham, Bury and Rochdale Population aged under 18yrs 
 

Across ORB there are approximately 153,288 children under the age of 18, equating to 24% of the 

total population of the area. There is minimal difference and when comparing the percentage of the 

population under 18 years of each local authority to GM and national population data. One thing to 

note is that Oldham has a slightly higher percentage of under 18 years within its population at 25%, 

as seen in Table 1.  

Table 1: Number of children aged under 18 in Oldham, Bury and Rochdale 

Area Under-18 Population 

size 

Total Population % population 

under -18 

Bury 43,289 

 

190,990 23% 

Oldham 59,592 

 

237,110 25% 

Rochdale 50,407 

 

222,412 23% 

Bury, Oldham, Rochdale 

(ORB)  

153,288 

 

650,512 

 

24% 

Greater Manchester 

(GM) 

644,540 

 

2,835,686 

 

23% 

England  12,642,441 

 

56,286,961 

 

22% 

Source: Mid-2019: April 2020 local authority district codes version of this 

datasethttps://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimat

es/datasets/populationestimatesforukenglandandwalesscotlandandnorthernireland 

 

Reviews of child death cases 2019/2020  

 

Closed Cases 2019/2020 

 

In 2019/2020 there were 29 closed cases across the ORB CDOP. As seen in table 2, the closed cases 

in ORB account for 23% of GM closed cases. Oldham has the highest rate of closed cases, 2.35 per 

10,000 of the population.  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 11

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/datasets/populationestimatesforukenglandandwalesscotlandandnorthernireland
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/datasets/populationestimatesforukenglandandwalesscotlandandnorthernireland


8 
 

Table 2: Number and percentage of deaths (cases closed) across ORB 2019/20 

Area 
Total Deaths 

(Closed Cases) 

Percentage of 

overall GM deaths 

(Closed cases) 

Rate of Closed cases 

per 10,000 

population 

Bury 7 5% 1.62 

Oldham 14 11% 2.35 

Rochdale 8 6% 1.59 

ORB  29 23% 1.89 

GM  129 100% 2.00 

Source: GM CDOP Data 2019/2020  

It is important to note that whilst these cases were closed during this time, the deaths did not 

necessarily occur in the same 12-month time frame, due to the variable duration for a case to be 

closed. Seven of the closed cases were deaths that were notified in the 2019/2020 time period, 

equating to 24% of the closed cases reviewed in this paper, this compares to 15% average across 

GM, see table 3. For the purpose of the CDOP annual report, the closed cases are discussed, as these 

offer the level of detail required to identify themes. It is important that this is kept in mind when 

interpreting the findings of this report.  

 

Table 3: Notified cases closed in the same year (2019/20) 

Area Total Number 

Notified Cases 

2019/20 

Total Number of 

Closed Cases 

2019/20 

Number of cases 

notified and closed 

in 2019/20 

% Cases notified 

and closed in 

2019/20 

ORB  79 29 7 24% 

GM  255 129 38 15% 

Source: GM CDOP Data 2019/2020 

This year the number of closed cases has fallen across both ORB and GM, table 4 demonstrates 

these trends.  This is the lowest number of closed cases seen for the last 8 years. This issue has been 

seen nationally, due to the introduction of new guidance and the increase in workload that this has 

created. In addition, locally the CDOP Officer role has been vacant, and the local acute care provider 

has been going through a major organisational restructure. As part of this restructure a new IT data 

collection system has been introduced, this means that data has been archived which has slowed 

down the recovery of information requested by CDOP.  Previous drops in ORB closed cases in 

2013/14 and 2016/17 are also due to the CDOP officer role not being covered.  

 

Table 4: Number of Closed Cases compared by year across each area 

Area Number of Closed Cases per year  

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 

Bury 20 13 17 17 11 14 12 7 

Oldham 27 24 36 29 25 31 14 14 

Rochdale 25 20 28 28 15 26 27 8 

Page 12



9 
 

ORB   72 57 81 74 51 71 53 29 

GM 267 216 262 236 231 274 204 129 

Source: ORB CDOP report 2017/2018 & GM CDOP data analysis 2019/2020 

 

Notified cases 2019/2020 
 

Between 1st April 2019 and 31st March 2020 there were 79 notified child deaths across ORB, this 

equates to 33%, an over representation of the child deaths in GM, this is consistent with previous 

years. Whilst Bury and Rochdale have a similar rate of notified cases compared to GM, Oldham has a 

higher rate at 7.22 per 10,000 of the population and equates to approximately half of the child 

deaths in the ORB CDOP, see table 5.  

 

Table 5: Number, percentage and rate per 10,000 of notified deaths across ORB, 2019/20 

Area Number of 

Notified 

Deaths   

Percentage of 

overall GM 

deaths 

Population 0-

17 yrs 

Rate of 

Notified cases 

per 10,000 

population 

Bury 16 7% 43289 3.7 

Oldham 43 18% 59592 7.22 

Rochdale 20 8% 50,407 3.37 

ORB  79 33% 153288 5.15 

GM   241 100% 644540 3.74 

Source: GM CDOP Data 2019/2020 

 

Duration of Reviews  

 

The duration of review can be described as the number of days from the notification of death to 

closing the case following the CDOP review. In 2019/20 the range for duration of review of ORB 

closed cases was 1855 days. The average duration of review across ORB was 597 days, higher than 

the GM average at 391 days. Oldham and Rochdale had the longest average duration of review 

compared to all other local authorities across GM at 633 days and 618 days respectively, see table 6. 

There may be a number of explanations for this range, for example factors such as the cause of 

death or when additional investigations such as coroner’s inquest or serious incident investigations 

are required, which can delay a case from reaching CDOP.  The factors discussed as reasons for a 

reduction in the number of closed cases, are also likely to have contributed to delays in the review 

process.  

 

 

 

Page 13



10 
 

Table 6: Average Duration of Review by Area 

Area Duration of Review (Days) 

Bury 425 

Oldham 633 

Rochdale  618 

ORB 579 

GM  391 

Source: GM CDOP Data 2019/2020 

 

Expected/ unexpected deaths  

 

Table 7 shows that 66% of ORB deaths were expected and only 28% were unexpected. This is less 

unexpected deaths when compared to GM. This may represent a greater burden of childhood 

chronic disease.  

Table 7: Comparing Expected and Unexpected Deaths by Area (2019/2020)  

Area Expected Unexpected Not Known Total 

No % No % No % No 

ORB 19 66% 8 28% <5  29 

GM 69 53% 55 43% 5 4% 129 

Source: GM CDOP Data 2019/2020 

Figure 2 shows the proportion of expected deaths compared to unexpected deaths for each local 

authority area. Of the three local authorities Bury appears to have the highest percentage of 

unexpected deaths, however this more likely to be due to the small number of deaths, rather than a 

significant finding. 

 

Source: GM CDOP Data 2019/2020 

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

120%

Bury Oldham Rochdale BOR GM

P
er

ce
n

ta
ge

 o
f 

cl
o

se
d

 C
as

es
 

Area

Figure 2: Percentage of Expected and Unexpected Deaths for 
each Area  

Expected Unexpected Not Known

Page 14



11 
 

Location of Death 
 

The majority of deaths occurred in a hospital setting across all three localities. Table 8 shows that 

ORB had a higher percentage of deaths in hospitals when compared to GM. This year GM had a 

higher percentage of deaths in other locations compared to previous years, this is not reflected in 

the ORB data. Deaths in hospital are more likely to do due to a perinatal or medical cause, rather 

than sudden unexpected death which would be more likely to occur in the home environment.  

 

Table 8: Comparison of Location of Death 2019/2020 

Area Hospital Home Other 

No % No % No % 

ORB 20 69% 7 24% <5  

GM  60 47% 34 26% 35 27% 

Source: GM CDOP Data 2019/2020   

 

Causes/Category of Death  
 

As part of the CDOP process each case is assigned a category of death from 10 defined options. The 

classification system is hierarchical therefore the category of death with the most relevance will be 

recorded as the primary category and cause of death, and others as secondary categories. The 

nationally defined categories of death as follows: 

a. Deliberate inflicted injury, abuse or neglect 

b. Suicide or deliberate self-harm 

c. Trauma and other external factors  

d. Malignancy 

e. Acute medical or surgical condition 

f. Chronic medical condition 

g. Chromosomal genetic and congenital anomalies 

h. Perinatal/neonatal event  

i. Infection 

j. Sudden unexpected, unexplained death  

Page 15



12 
 

 

Source: GM CDOP DATA 2019/2020 

Figure 3 clearly demonstrates that perinatal and neonatal events were the most common cause of 

death, followed by chromosomal, genetic and congenital abnormalities. When combined, these two 

categories equate to half of the child deaths in ORB. This is consistent across GM, in line with 

national trends and the same as previous years. There were no deaths classified as deliberate or 

suicide and self-harm. All other categories equate to a small number of deaths.  

Due to the small number of cases it is difficult to compare causes of deaths by local authority. 

However, perinatal/neonatal events and chromosomal/genetic/congenital causes are the leading 

category of death across all three local authorities. 

Socio-demographics of cases closed in 2019/2020 
 

Gender 

 

When comparing deaths across the local authorities by gender, males appear to be over-

represented at 62% when compared to females 38%, as seen in table 9. This is consistent with GM 

findings and national trends. The reason for this discrepancy is unclear.  

 

 

 

a. Deliberate
0%

b. Suicide or Self-
Harm

0%

c. Trauma and other 
External Sources

10%

d. Malignancy
3%

e.  Acute 
medical/surgical 

condition
7%

f. Chronic medical 
Condition

7%

g. Chromosomal/ 
Genetic/ congenital

18%

h. Perinatal/ 
Neonatal Event 

35%

i. Infection
7%

j. Sudden Unexpected, unexplained 
death 
10%

Not Known
3%

FIGURE 3: PIE CHART TO SHOW CAUSES OF DEATHS ACROSS ORB AS 
PERCENTAGE OF ALL CLOSED CASES

Page 16



13 
 

Table 9: Number of cases closed by Gender in ORB and GM 

Area Female Male 

No % No % 

ORB 11 38% 18 62% 

Greater Manchester  61 47% 68 53% 

Source: GM CDOP DATA 2019/2020 *Note that 1 closed case in GM where Gender was not determined  

Ethnicity  

 

In all three areas, White British is the predominant ethnicity, with 68% of the child population across 

ORB classified as white and 32% as BME. This is similar to the variance in ethnicity across GM. Of 

note, Oldham BME child population is 40% compared to 28% GM, see table 2. Both are substantially 

higher than the UK national figures, which according to 2011 census data, 13% of the UKs population 

belong to BME groups3, see table 10.  

 

Table 10: Child Population Ethnicity across Oldham, Bury and Rochdale, using mid 2019 

population estimates. 

Area Total 

under 18 

population 

White BME 

No % No % 

Bury 43289 34631 80% 8658 20% 

Oldham 59592 35755 60% 23837 40% 

Rochdale 53299 36243 68% 17056 32% 

ORB 156180 106629 68% 49551 32% 

GM 629278 451275 72% 178003 28% 

Source: GM CDOP Data analysis 2019/2020. Based on mid-2019 population estimates  

 

Table 11 shows that ORB and GM figures are similar when comparing child deaths by ethnicity. Both 

show a higher percentage of child deaths in the white population which is to be expected in view of 

higher proportion of the population of this ethnicity. However, both have a higher rate of closed 

cases in the BME population, suggesting that although numbers are small that BME child deaths are 

over-represented. This is most striking in Oldham where the rate of child deaths is 3.36 per 10,000 in 

BME children compared to 1.68 per 10,000 in white children, exactly double. Clearly there is a health 

inequality associated with ethnicity. Rochdale does not show this trend, however this may be due to 

the small number of total cases.  

 

 

 

 

                                                           
3 https://www.ethnicity-facts-figures.service.gov.uk/ 

Page 17



14 
 

Table 11: Cases Closed by Ethnicity for Each Area 

Area White BME 

No % Rate/10,000 No % Rate/10,000 

Bury <10 
 

1.44 <5 
 

2.31 

Oldham 6 43% 1.68 8 57% 3.36 

Rochdale <10 
 

1.93 <5 
 

0.59 

ORB 18 62% 1.69 11 38% 2.22 

GM 79 61% 1.75 50 39% 2.81 

Source: GM CDOP data analysis 2019/2020 

When comparing the cause of death and ethnicity, difficulty arises due to the small number of cases. 

The one clear finding is that all the closed cases with chromosomal, genetic and congenital causes 

were in children of BME ethnicity. This corresponds with national data that identified that whilst 

prematurity related conditions were the main cause of infant mortality overall, in Pakistani and 

Bangladeshi ethnic groups more infant deaths were caused by congenital anomalies4. Having 

consanguineous parents is a known risk factor for congenital abnormalities, and potential 

explanation for this variation nationally. However, the closed cases in this report where the category 

of death was chromosomal, genetic and congenital causes were not found to be related to 

consanguinity.  

 

Inequalities & Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) 

 

Deprivation is known to be a contributing factor to many of the risk factors associated with child 

deaths. The index of multiple deprivation 2019 (IMD) is an overall measure of deprivation taking into 

account not only income deprivation, but also key resources needed for an individual to meet their 

basic needs, such as education, employment, health and disability, housing and living environment.  

All three local authorities have higher rates of deprivation when compared to both GM and 

nationally. Oldham and Rochdale in particular, are categorised as being in the ‘most deprived’ 

quintile, as demonstrated in table 12. Both have a higher percentage of people living in the 20% 

most deprived areas in England, when compared to Bury, GM and nationally.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                           
4https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/bulletins/childh
oodinfantandperinatalmortalityinenglandandwales/2018#:~:text=1.-
,Main%20points,of%203.6%20recorded%20in%202014 

Page 18

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/bulletins/childhoodinfantandperinatalmortalityinenglandandwales/2018#:~:text=1.-,Main%20points,of%203.6%20recorded%20in%202014
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/bulletins/childhoodinfantandperinatalmortalityinenglandandwales/2018#:~:text=1.-,Main%20points,of%203.6%20recorded%20in%202014
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/bulletins/childhoodinfantandperinatalmortalityinenglandandwales/2018#:~:text=1.-,Main%20points,of%203.6%20recorded%20in%202014


15 
 

Table 12: Comparison of Deprivation, by IMD 2019 and percentage of people living in the 20% 

most deprived areas in England, for Oldham, Bury and Rochdale. 

Area IMD 2019 Percentage of people living in 

the 20% most deprived areas 

in England 

Bury 23.7 20.5% 

Oldham 33.2 43.6% 

Rochdale 34.4 44.5% 

North West 28.1 31.9% 

England 21.7 20.2% 

Source:https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/search/deprivation#page/3/gid/1/pat/6/par/E12000002/ati/102/are/E06

000008/iid/93553/age/1/sex/4/cid/4/page-options/ovw-do-0_car-do-0 

 

IMD scores can be split into deciles to enable comparisons to be made, where decile 1 equates to 

the most deprived 10% of the population and decile 10 is the least deprived 10%. Figure 4 shows a 

clear trend between deprivation and the risk of child deaths, with 31% of closed cases in ORB being 

in the most deprived decile, and 79% of cases in the lowest 5 deciles. As deprivation falls so does the 

number of child deaths, this is in keeping with national trends. Oldham appears to have the highest 

numbers of death in the most deprived decile, despite similar deprivation levels to Rochdale. This 

may be due to the higher number of closed cases within Oldham. 

 

Source: GM CDOP Data 2019/2020  

 

 

 

 

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9

P
er

ce
n

ta
ge

 o
f 

C
lo

se
d

 C
as

es
 

Deprivation Decile 
1 - Most deprived 10 -Least deprived 

Figure 4: Percentage of Closed Cases in each Decile of Deprivation 
split by Area 

Rochdale

Oldham

Bury

Page 19



16 
 

Age at death  
 

Younger children have the highest risk of childhood mortality, and the highest risk of death is during 

the neonatal period5. Figure 5 demonstrates that as age increases the number of deaths falls. In ORB 

34% of closed cases were in the neonatal period and 58% within the first year of life. This is 

consistent with GM and national trends. The percentage of closed cases in the neonatal period is 

less than previous years, for example in 2016/2017 neonatal deaths accounted for 59% of the 

deaths. Across all three local authorities most closed cases are before the age of 5 years.  

 

 

Source: GM CDOP Data 2019/2020  

Figure 5 shows that whilst Bury follows the expected trend, both Oldham and Rochdale have a 

higher proportion of closed cases in the 1-4 years category than previous years. It is important to 

note that numbers are small, with a total of 8 closed cases in this category, therefore it is difficult to 

identify a reason for this and may be due to chance. Deaths in this age group appear to fall into 

three main categories: 

 A health condition that subsequently led to the death  

 Trauma and external factors  

 Sudden unexpected unexplained death 

Interestingly, 50% of these cases had modifiable risk factors, higher than average across the CDOP 

area. Table 13 summaries the number of child deaths and percentages for ORB and GM. Due to the 

small number of cases, individual areas are not included in this table.  

 

 

                                                           
5 https://www.who.int/maternal_child_adolescent/documents/levels_trends_child_mortality_2019/en/ 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

0-27days 28-264 days 1-4yrs 5-9yrs 10-14yrs 15-17yrs

%
 o

f 
C

lo
se

d
 C

as
es

 p
er

 A
re

a

Age Group

Figure 5: Proportion of Closed Cases by Age Band for each Area

Bury

Oldham

Rochdale

BRO

Page 20

https://www.who.int/maternal_child_adolescent/documents/levels_trends_child_mortality_2019/en/


17 
 

Table 13: Closed Cases by Age Band for Bury, Oldham, Rochdale and Greater Manchester 

Area Age Category 

0-27days 28-264 

days 

1-4yrs 5-9yrs 10-14yrs 15-17yrs 

No % No % No % No % No % No % 

ORB 10 34% 7 24% 8 28% 0 0% <5  <5  

Greater 

Manchester  

47 36% 36 28% 19 15% 9 7% 13 10% 5 4% 

Source: GM CDOP Data 2019/2020  

 

Low birth weight and Prematurity  

 

Preterm delivery is defined as any birth before 37 weeks of pregnancy and can be subdivided 

depending upon gestational age6: 

 Extremely preterm -less than 28 weeks  

 Very preterm -28-32 weeks  

 Moderate to late preterm -32-37 weeks.  

Preterm delivery and the associated complications are the leading cause of infant mortality5. The 

earlier the gestation at which a baby is born, the higher the risk of infant death7. Preterm delivery is 

associated with risk factors such as poverty and maternal smoking8. 76% of all deaths in children under 

1 year were born prematurely across ORB.  This was consistent across all three localities ranging from 

71% -80%.  

Low birth weight, defined as under 2500 grams, is often caused by a premature birth, and whilst 

some risk factors are unavoidable others include maternal smoking, drug and alcohol use, poor 

pregnancy health and nutrition, pregnancy related complications and mothers young age9. Birth 

weight for closed cases under the age of 1 have been compared across the localities in table 14. 

Across ORB 59% of closed cases under 1 year were associated with a low birth weight.  

 

Table 14: Birth weight of closed cases for babies under 1 year only 

Area  <2500g 

Low Birth Weight 

>2500g 

Healthy Birth weight 

Not recorded Total 

ORB 10 59% <10  <5  17 

GM 46 56% 28 34% 8 10% 82 

Source: GM CDOP Data 2019/2020  

                                                           
6 https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/preterm-birth 
7https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/bulletins/childh
oodinfantandperinatalmortalityinenglandandwales/2018#:~:text=1.-
,Main%20points,of%203.6%20recorded%20in%202014 
8 https://www.rcpch.ac.uk/sites/default/files/2018-10/child_health_in_2030_in_england_-report_2018-10.pdf 
9 https://www.nuffieldtrust.org.uk/resource/low-birth-weight 

Page 21

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/bulletins/childhoodinfantandperinatalmortalityinenglandandwales/2018#:~:text=1.-,Main%20points,of%203.6%20recorded%20in%202014
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/bulletins/childhoodinfantandperinatalmortalityinenglandandwales/2018#:~:text=1.-,Main%20points,of%203.6%20recorded%20in%202014
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/bulletins/childhoodinfantandperinatalmortalityinenglandandwales/2018#:~:text=1.-,Main%20points,of%203.6%20recorded%20in%202014
https://www.rcpch.ac.uk/sites/default/files/2018-10/child_health_in_2030_in_england_-report_2018-10.pdf
https://www.nuffieldtrust.org.uk/resource/low-birth-weight


18 
 

Figure 6 demonstrates the further breakdown of birth weights in closed cases under 1 years. 1500g-

2499g was the most common weight category, but 24% were less than 1500g, known as ‘very low 

birth weight’. A low birth weight, particularly below 1500g is associated with higher mortality rates10. 

All three localities had closed cases where birth weight was less than 1500g. 

 

  

                                                           
10 https://www.who.int/bulletin/volumes/95/8/16-
180273/en/#:~:text=Compared%20with%20other%20infants%2C%20low,to%20the%20nearest%20health%20f
acility. 

<1500g

1500g-2499g

2500g-3999g

Not recorded

Figure 6:Birth Weight for Closed Cases under 1 years across ORB 

Page 22



19 
 

Modifiable and other risk factors  

 

Factors Identified that may have contributed to vulnerability, ill health or death  

 

Form C, the child death review analysis form, is used by CDOP. All available information, gathered 

from different agencies, is reviewed in order to develop an understanding of the circumstances of 

the child’s death and whether there were any associated modifiable factors. Through this process 

lessons can be learnt and shared, and local level action can be taken in order to reduce the risk of 

child death.  

As part of the review, any factors that may have contributed to the child’s death are identified.  

These are split into four domains:  

 Domain A: Factors Intrinsic to the Child 

 Domain B: Factors in Social Environment including Family and Parenting Capacity 

 Domain C: Factors in the Physical Environment  

 Domain D: Factors in Service Provision 

The level of influence is then determined, given one of the following: 

 0: Information not available 

 1: No factors identified, or factors identified but are unlikely to have contributed to the 

death  

 2: Factors identified that may have contributed to vulnerability, ill health or death  

 

Factors identified in closed cases in ORB that may have contributed to vulnerability, ill health or 

death 

Domain A: Factors Intrinsic to the Child 

 Acute Sudden onset illness  

 Other Chronic long- term illness (excluding Asthma, epilepsy and diabetes)  

 Learning disability  

 Motor Impairment  

 Sensory Impairment  

 Other disability or impairment  

Domain B: Factors in Social Environment including family and parenting Capacity  

 Emotional/behavioural/mental/physical health condition in a parent or carer  

Domain D: Factors in Service Provision 

 Prior medical Intervention  

 

89% of the factors identified were in domain A, factors intrinsic to the child, which are unavoidable. 

The most common was acute sudden onset of illness identified in 23 cases, 79%.  

Page 23



20 
 

Modifiable Factors  
 

Some factors associated with a child’s death are modifiable, these are important as targeted 

interventions can be used to reduce risk where factors reoccur. A set standard of modifiable factors 

has been agreed by the GM CDOP Network to ensure consistency when categorising the 

preventability of child deaths. This is to reduce the subjectivity surrounding these matters.  

The agreed definition of Modifiable Factors Identified is: 

‘The panel have identified one or more factors, in any domain, which may have contributed to the 

death of the child and which, by means of locally or nationally achievable interventions, could be 

modified to reduce the risk of future child deaths’  

 

The Modifiable Factors are categorised and defined as: 

 

Modifiable Factors in Perinatal / Neonatal Deaths 

 Maternal smoking in pregnancy   

 Maternal Obesity (BMI 30 +)  

 Mothers who are Underweight (BMI < 18.5)  

 Unbooked pregnancies  

 Concealed pregnancies  

 Necrotizing Enterocolitis (NEC) where the baby was not fed expressed breast milk  

Modifiable Factors in Sudden Unexpected, Unexplained Deaths 

 Unsafe sleeping arrangements (co-sleeping bed/sofa)  

 Parental smoking  

Modifiable Factors in Consanguineous Related Deaths 

 Where there has been an older sibling who has died or is affected by the same genetic 

autosomal recessive disorder   

 

Across ORB 31% of cases had modifiable factors identified, ORB had a lower proportion of cases with 

modifiable factors when compared to GM demonstrated in table 15. All cases across ORB had 

sufficient information to identify modifiable factors.  

 

Table 15: Modifiable and Non-Modifiable Factors Contributing Towards Child Deaths in Oldham, 

Bury and Rochdale 

Area Modifiable Factors 

Identified 

No Modifiable Factors 

Identified 

Insufficient 

Information 

Total 

No % No % No % No 

ORB  9 31% 20 69% 0 0% 29 

GM 52 40% 74 57% 3 2% 129 

Source: GM CDOP Data 2019/2020. 

 

Page 24



21 
 

When comparing the three localities, using Figure 7, Rochdale appears to have the highest 

proportion of modifiable factors, however, the actual number of cases with modifiable factors is 

equivalent to Oldham. Of the cases where modifiable risk factors were identified 78% had more than 

one factor, suggesting that modifiable factors are less likely to be found in isolation and in fact 

multiple factors combined are more likely to put a child’s life a risk.  

 

 

Source: GM CDOP 2019/2020  

Modifiable Risk Factors identified by the ORB CDOP in the closed cases of 2019/20 included: 

 Maternal Obesity 

 Maternal Smoking in Pregnancy  

 Parental Smoking  

 Unsafe Sleeping arrangements 

 

It is important to note that whilst these factors were identified as modifiable factors, they were not 

felt to be factors that may have contributed to vulnerability, ill health or death of the child, and 

therefore not allocated a 2 when scored. Across GM maternal obesity has been recorded for the last 

three years, however, is not yet assessed to see whether this contributed to the child’s death. Data 

was not recorded for un-booked pregnancy or concealed pregnancy, two of the modifiable risk 

factors defined by GM.  

 

Other Identified Risk Factors  

 

Other issues raised within the closed cases across ORB that are not defined within the GM CDOP 

Network: 

 

 Modifiable factors in sudden, unexpected, unexplained deaths such as drug and alcohol use 

and housing  

1
4

%

2
9

%

5
0

%

3
1

% 4
0

%

8
6

%

7
1

%

5
0

%

6
9

%

5
7

%

0
%

0
%

0
%

0
% 2
%

B U R Y O L D H A M R O C H D A L E B O R  G R E A T E R  
M A N C H E S T E R

%
 O

F 
C

LO
SE

D
 C

A
SE

S 

AREA

F IG UR E  7 :  PER C EN T AG E OF  C LOSED C ASES  WIT H  MODIF IAB LE  
FAC T OR S IDEN T IF IED  

Modifiable Factors Identified No Modifiable Factors Identified Insufficient Information

Page 25



22 
 

 Factors in service provision  

 Consanguinity  

 Window Blind Cord Injury  

Understanding Modifiable Risk Factors and Local Initiatives  
 

The following section will explore the modifiable risk factors that have been raised in further detail, 

and provide examples of what is being done to reduce the risk of child deaths through targeted 

interventions across the three localities.   

Maternal Raised BMI  

 

Preventing perinatal child deaths begins with a healthy pregnancy. Maternal obesity is a risk factor 

associated with many complications around birth and increased morbidity and mortality for baby. It 

is also known that social deprivation is associated with maternal obesity11.  

24% of closed cases in children under the age of 1 had maternal obesity identified. In 18% of closed 

cases in children under the age of 1, maternal obesity was felt to be a modifiable factor. Also, in this 

group 59% of mothers were overweight or obese, consistent with GM findings. Across GM obesity 

has overtaken smoking as the largest modifiable risk factor in child deaths, although numbers are 

small it would appear that a similar trend is emerging across ORB. In 29% of the child deaths under 

the age of 1, maternal BMI was not recorded. In view of the increasing concerns surrounding this 

issue, it is important that going forward this is recorded to enable review and understanding of the 

scale of the issue.  

Health visitors across the three boroughs promote healthy eating particularly at times where infant 

feeding, weaning and child health promotion is carried out.  

Oldham 

A new Health Improvement and Weight Management service brings two previously separate 

services together to deliver a jointly commissioned, integrated service to Oldham.  The new service 

will go-live on 1st January 2021.This new model of delivery will be family-centred and aligns with the 

wider work being undertaken within the Oldham’s CCG’s long-term conditions portfolio.  The 

objectives for the new service model will contribute to: 

 Reducing the proportion of adults who smoke 

 Reducing the proportion of adults and children who are overweight or obese 

 Reducing the proportion of adults who are physically inactive 

 Provide advice regarding drinking alcohol within safe limits 

 Reducing the proportion of adults that have a high vascular risk score through post NHS Health 

Check support 

 Reduce the level of health inequalities. 

 

                                                           
11 https://www.publichealth.hscni.net/sites/default/files/Maternal%20Obesity%20in%20the%20UK.pdf 

Page 26



23 
 

Maternal Smoking in Pregnancy 
 

Maternal smoking in pregnancy is known to double the risk of preterm delivery12.  In 2018/19, 

nationally 10.6% of mothers were known to smoke at the time of delivery, this was higher in Oldham 

(13.6%) and Rochdale (16.1%)13. In this report maternal smoking during pregnancy was identified in 

10% of cases, however maternal smoking was felt to be a modifiable risk factor and related to a 

perinatal/neonatal event in 3% of cases. In 13% of cases maternal smoking was not documented.  

Health visitors make smoking enquiries at the first contact with the family and brief interventions 

are carried out using health promotion/motivational interviewing techniques. Smoking risks are 

discussed in relation to pregnancy at antenatal contacts and in relation to safe sleep/ongoing health 

of children. A smoke free home is promoted to support reduction of risks for pregnant women 

and/or other children from passive smoking. They also signpost to smoking cessation services, such 

as Lifestyle Service, and GP services. 

 

Oldham and Rochdale  

Since 2018 as part of the Saving Babies Lives requirements, Royal Oldham Hospital has used 

Babyclear, the GM smoke free pregnancy programme. This is funded up until March 2021. It is a 

midwifery led model, providing mothers with behavioural support, nicotine replacement therapy 

(NRT) and risk perception interviews with women who do not engage with services. Mothers from 

Rochdale will usually access Oldham or North Manchester for delivery, as there is no delivery unit in 

Rochdale, so would access the services provided within Northern Care Alliance.  

Oldham have recently appointed a new midwife who, alongside maternity support workers, will 

delivery of this service. In order to reduce barriers to accessing NRT, the maternity unit are also 

piloting a service where NRT can be supplied directly to mums from the hospital. With recent COVID 

restrictions the team have not been able to use carbon monoxide monitoring, an important part of 

their service, however it is hoped that it will be reintroduced in the coming months. The team collect 

and review monthly data to look at trends, they have noted that across both Oldham and Rochdale 

the number of women smoking at the time of delivery is starting to decline. It is hoped that the 

recent changes will help to further this decline. The other elements of Saving Babies Lives are 

explored further in a later section of this report. 

Risk factors associated with Sudden, Unexpected, Unexplained Deaths: Parental 

Smoking & Unsafe Sleeping  

 

Whilst the exact cause for a sudden and unexpected child death is not known, a number of risk 

factors are likely to contribute, making a child more vulnerable to death. 300 infants die suddenly 

and unexpectedly in England and Wales each year, these deaths often occur in families where 

                                                           
12 https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/07/saving-babies-lives-care-bundle-version-two-
v5.pdf 
13https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/search/smoking#page/3/gid/1/pat/6/par/E12000002/ati/102/are/E08000004/ii
d/93085/age/1/sex/2/cid/4/page-options/ovw-do-0_car-do-0 

Page 27



24 
 

circumstances put the child at an increased risk14. Safe sleeping advice is known to significantly 

reduce the risk of child death, and around 60% of sudden infant deaths could be avoided if no baby 

was exposed to smoke15. 

10% of closed cases were identified as sudden, unexpected and unexplained deaths in ORB. Two 

thirds of these were felt to have modifiable factors including smoking, safe sleeping, housing, drugs 

and alcohol. Information regarding prone sleeping, co-sleeping and overheating was not routinely 

collected, and only mentioned when identified as a modifiable risk factors or issue.  

Across ORB safe sleeping guidance is discussed by health visitors at contacts from the antenatal 

period through the first year of life. Guidance from the Lullaby Trust and Basis is promoted. Risk 

assessments based on a family’s individual circumstances are made where the checklist in a childs 

Red Book (PCHR) is checked, this has usually been completed by the midwife. Conversations are 

tailored to the individual family using motivational interviewing techniques, for example if risk 

factors are present these are discussed to support parental decision making. The health visiting 

teams receive regular updates from Lullaby Trust and utilise their parent information resources to 

provide information.  

 

Rochdale 

Rochdale Local Safeguarding Partnership have developed an initiative ‘Keep Baby Safe’, their current 

focus in on safe sleeping and coping with crying/abusive head trauma. These areas have been 

informed by local safeguarding reviews. They have developed multiagency sleep guidance and risk 

assessments which will be launched at a sleep training event in October 2020. These are 

underpinned by the findings of the national safeguarding panel review of Sudden Unexpected Death 

in Infancy. The Lullaby trust campaign materials are used during the antenatal and postnatal journey 

in order to raise awareness with parents, this includes events, information in antenatal packs, 

discussion with families and briefing professionals across multiple agencies to give the same clear 

message. The team have Public Health for one year to provide room thermometers which contain 

the key sleep safe messages.  

 

Parental Alcohol/Substance Misuse 

 

Parental drug and/or alcohol misuse was identified as an issue in 7% of closed cases. Across GM 8% 

of cases were identified as having drugs and alcohol as a factor which may have contributed to the 

childs death.  

Routine enquiry is made at first contacts with the health visiting service and ongoing support is 

provided if this becomes or is an ongoing need for the family. Brief interventions are provided in 

terms of risks and dangers of drug/alcohol misuse around children. A referral to other services is 

made when a risk of potential significant harm is identified.  

                                                           
14 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/safeguarding-children-at-risk-from-sudden-unexpected-
infant-death 
15 https://www.lullabytrust.org.uk/safer-sleep-advice/what-is-sids/ 

Page 28

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/safeguarding-children-at-risk-from-sudden-unexpected-infant-death
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/safeguarding-children-at-risk-from-sudden-unexpected-infant-death


25 
 

Consanguinity  
 

Under the GM definitions of modifiable risk factors consanguinity is only recognised as a modifiable 

risk factor if the parents have had a previous child who has died from, or is affected by a genetic 

abnormality. Although consanguinity came up as an issue, no cases had a previous death related to 

the genetic abnormality and therefore was not formally identified as a modifiable risk factor. 

However, consanguinity remains a concern in view of the fact that child deaths are overrepresented 

in ethnic minority groups, particularly in Oldham, and the higher representation of deaths related to 

chromosomal and genetic disorders.  

Health visitors provide supportive discussion around this and signpost families to the appropriate 

services such as genetics, this referral would likely be done by the GP. Health visitors would promote 

the importance of accessing national screening programmes to support the family in future 

pregnancies.  

Oldham 

In 2016 a Genetic outreach service in Oldham was established. The service works with local 

communities on genetic literacy and improving access to services. Aims of the service include 

reducing the prevalence of genetic disorders in the borough, empowering affected families in their 

decision making and providing support to affected families.  

 

Access to Appropriate Health/Social Care 
  

There were clinical concerns raised in 10% of cases with regards to hospital systems and the 

approach to care. Themes such as lack of early recognition of warning signs and appropriate 

escalation, poor record keeping, and the following of procedures were seen in the cases. However, 

each case occurred in a different departments and teams. When problems with the delivery of 

healthcare are identified these are managed before the CDOP review. They are discussed during the 

child death review meeting where professionals who have been directly involved in the child’s care 

meet to discuss how things can be improved. Where patient safety is felt to have been compromised 

an NHS serious incident investigation will also be carried out.  CDOP therefore acts as safety net, or a 

fresh pair of eyes, at the end of the process to ensure that nothing has been missed. In these cases, 

the panel sought assurance that the action plans initiated following on from Serious Incidents had 

been implemented. 

 

Saving Babies Lives  
 

Saving Babies Lives is a national evidence-based care bundle that aims to reduce perinatal mortality. 

The care bundle has recently been updated to version two and brings together five elements 

including: reducing smoking in pregnancy, improved detection and management of babies who are 

Page 29



26 
 

small for gestational age, raising awareness of reduced fetal movements, effective fetal monitoring 

during labour and reducing preterm births.16 

At Royal Oldham Hospital the maternity service is fully compliant across all areas apart from fetal 

monitoring, where a few minor amendments are being made, and preventing premature births, 

once a premature clinic is set up in November, all requirements will be met. Recent changes have 

been made to ensure compliance with version 2 of saving babies lives, and to improve the service 

offered. This has involved many areas of work including improved training packages for midwives, 

sonographers and clinicians, developing a competency tool around fetal growth, regular auditing of 

notes, computerised CTGs for reduced fetal movements (particularly for small babies and other at 

risk pregnancies), and a new prematurity clinic to start in November. Changes to the smoking service 

are discussed earlier in this report.  

 

Emotional/behavioural/mental/physical health condition in a parent or carer 
 

The emotional, behavioural, mental or physical health condition of a parent or carer may have an 

effect upon the health of a child and the care they receive. In 10% of cases a parent or carers health 

was felt to have contributed to vulnerability, ill health or the death of the child, however in two 

thirds of these cases no modifiable factors were identified. It is important that in situations where 

parents have their own health difficulties appropriate support is available to ensure that the health 

and welfare of the child is not compromised.  

 

Accidents and Trauma  
 

Trauma and other external sources accounted for 10% of closed cases, these included accidents such 

as blind cord injury and road traffic collision. The Royal Society for the Prevention of Accidents works 

across the UK to help prevent accidents occurring in view of their devastating consequences. As part 

of this work they have a specific campaign for blind cord injuries. They report that at least 33 young 

children across the UK have died due to blind cords since 2001. Their work includes working with 

manufacturers to make products safer and also providing education and campaign materials.  

Health visitors across ORB address the accidents and trauma reports from the local A&E and 

Children’s hospital departments via the ‘Duty’ process. A&E/Hospital admissions are reviewed on 

receipt via the service and documented on the chronology for the child. The review is provided in 

the context of the child’s records and the risk factors present are considered. If the child has a 

named health visitor they will be informed and appropriate follow up provided. If the child is 

‘universal’ and attends A&E, the incident is reviewed and follow up provided if needed. If the child 

attends for 3 or more incidents within one year this will also be reviewed and follow up provided. 

A&E and hospital attendance information will be shared with the Multi-agency Safeguarding Hub 

                                                           
16 https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/07/saving-babies-lives-care-bundle-version-two-

v5.pdf 

 

Page 30

https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/07/saving-babies-lives-care-bundle-version-two-v5.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/07/saving-babies-lives-care-bundle-version-two-v5.pdf


27 
 

(MASH) and safeguarding/child protection multi-agency if required. Health visitors may challenge 

cases and escalate to the Safeguarding Team if the acute settings have not followed procedures for 

potential non-accidental injuries in children. Support is also provided for parents in regards to 

‘coping with crying’. Health visitors can signpost to relevant resources such as the Institute of Health 

Visiting (iHV) Parent Tips ‘Coping with a Crying Baby During the Covid-19 Pandemic17’and ICON18. 

 

Other Risk Factors: 

 

Other Risk factors that can be associated with child deaths, but not identified in the cases 

discussed in this report: 

 Domestic Violence  

 Statutory Intervention  

 Suicide or self-harm  

 Late Booking or concealed pregnancies.  

These risk factors were not identified in the closed cases discussed in this report.  

  

                                                           
17 https://ihv.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/PT-Coping-with-a-crying-baby-during-COVID19-FINAL-
VERSION-14.4.20.pdf 
18 https://iconcope.org/parentsadvice/ 

Page 31

https://ihv.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/PT-Coping-with-a-crying-baby-during-COVID19-FINAL-VERSION-14.4.20.pdf
https://ihv.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/PT-Coping-with-a-crying-baby-during-COVID19-FINAL-VERSION-14.4.20.pdf
https://iconcope.org/parentsadvice/


28 
 

Recommendations and Actions 
 

The following recommendations and actions are based upon the findings of this report. 

Actions 

 This year a reduction in closed cases has been seen across GM. ORB CDOP have reflected on 

potential reasons for this and the reasons for the increase in the length of the review 

process. The team are working hard to access the information required to work through the 

backlog of cases.  

Recommendations 

 Whilst the CDOP process is extremely thorough in its review of potential modifiable risk 

factors, there are several additional factors that could be considered. CDOPs could consider 

looking at factors such as a maternal age, as a risk factors, and breastfeeding as protective.19 

These may help to identify other areas where intervention may be required such as young 

mothers services, or breast feeding education and services.  

 

 Data for unbooked pregnancy and concealed pregnancy was not recorded in the ORB data 

set, these are modifiable risk factors recognised by GM and therefore there may be benefit 

from reviewing these. Note that these may not have been included because these factors 

did not arise in the cases this year.  

 

 Be aware that maternal obesity is of growing concern as a risk factor for neonatal death. It is 

becoming increasingly common across Greater Manchester, and the ORB CDOP. It is 

important to record maternal obesity in child deaths under the age of one, where it may be 

relevant, in order to observe for trends in the data. GM could consider inclusion of obesity 

as a risk factor to review whether it contributed to the child death using the standardised 

review system. 

 

 Children living in deprived neighbourhoods or who are BME ethnicity continue to be over-

represented in the child deaths, this needs continued acknowledgement and address. This 

knowledge should be embedded within services, and teams educated, in order to raise 

awareness for these discrepancies and to ensure that work is done wherever possible to 

reduce child deaths.  

 

 It is advised that this report is disseminated to the relevant departments, within the health 

and wellbeing partnership organisations, in order to share learning.  

 

                                                           
19 https://www.rcpch.ac.uk/sites/default/files/2018-10/child_health_in_2030_in_england_-report_2018-
10.pdf 

Page 32

https://www.rcpch.ac.uk/sites/default/files/2018-10/child_health_in_2030_in_england_-report_2018-10.pdf
https://www.rcpch.ac.uk/sites/default/files/2018-10/child_health_in_2030_in_england_-report_2018-10.pdf


Publication: 15 December 2020 

 

Greater Manchester Child Death 
Overview Panels (CDOP) 

 
 
2019/2020 Annual Report  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Data Analysis:    Jacqui Dorman, Tameside Metropolitan Borough Council 
Author:    James Spacie, Manchester City Council 
Support:   Barry Gillespie & Stephanie Davern, Manchester City Council 
 
Greater Manchester CDOPs: Bury, Rochdale & Oldham Child Death Overview Panel 

Bolton, Salford & Wigan Child Death Overview Panel 
Stockport, Trafford & Tameside Child Death Overview Panel 
Manchester Child Death Overview Panel 

Page 33

Agenda Item 7



Page 2 of 22 

 

CONTENTS 
 

 
1. Executive Summary          3 

1.1 Introduction         3 
1.2 Key Findings          3 
1.3 The Child Death Review Process       4 
1.4 Child Health Profile        5 

2. Greater Manchester Child Death Overview Panels Child Deaths 2019/20    6 
2.1 Child Death Notifications & Cases Closed     6 
2.2 Duration of Reviews        7 
2.3 Categorisation of Death        7 
2.4 Age          8 
2.5 Sex          9 
2.6 Location at Time of Death        9 
2.7 Expected & Unexpected Deaths       9 
2.8 Neonatal & Infant Deaths (0-365 Days of Life)     10 
2.9 Gestational Age         10 
2.10 Birth Weight         10 
2.11  Ethnicity         10 
2.12  Deprivation         11 

3. Modifiable Factors & Relevant Risk Factors      12 
3.1 Smoking         14 
3.2 Maternal Obesity in Pregnancy        14 
3.3 Genetic Disorders & Consanguinity      14 
3.4 Alcohol & Substance Use        15 
3.5 Unsafe Sleeping Arrangements       15 
3.6 Domestic Abuse & Violence       15 
3.7 Access & Uptake of Healthcare Services      16 
3.8 Social Environment, Family & Parenting Capacity     16  

4. Conclusion          16 
5. Recommendations         18 
6. Appendices           19 

 
 
Appendix 1:  Number of 2019/20 GM CDOPs cases closed, duration of reviews (average, minimum 

and maximum days) by category of death 
Appendix 2:  Number of 2019/20 GM CDOPs child death notifications and cases closed by rate per 

10,000 population 
Appendix 3:  Number and percentage of 2019/20 GM CDOPs cases closed by ethnicity per local 

authority 
Appendix 4:  Number and percentage of 2012/20 GM CDOPs cases closed by category of death 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 34



Page 3 of 22 

 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY  
 
 
1.1 Introduction 
This is the 8th annual report reviewing all infant and child deaths reported to the four Greater 
Manchester (GM) Child Death Overview Panels (CDOP). This report includes data from cases closed 
between 1st April 2019 and 31st March 2020 (2019/20).  
 
All deaths of children between 0-17 years of age are reported to a CDOP.  The CDOP analyses the social 
and medical circumstances surrounding these deaths, including risk factors which could potentially be 
avoided to prevent future child deaths.  The aim of this report is to inform and guide local 
organisations on preventing further child deaths. 
 
 
1.2 Key Findings 
During 2019/20, there were 129 child death cases closed and 240 child death notifications.  This is a 
significant reduction in the number of cases closed (204 in 2018/19), mainly a consequence of the 
significant changes to the child death review process.  This reduction in closed cases means it is 
difficult to draw statistically significant conclusions in comparison to year’s previous data. The number 
of child death notifications during 2019/20 (240) is similar to previous years.   
 
The majority of child deaths occurred within the first year of life (n=83; 64%), with a large proportion 
occurring in the first month (47; 36%). This is similar to previous report findings.  The older age groups: 
1-4, 5-9, 10-14 and 15-17, accounted for 15%, 7%, 10% and 4% respectively.  
 
Of all closed cases in 2019/20, 94 cases (72%) were due to medical causes. ‘Medical causes’ 
encompasses multiple official categories of causes of death including acute medical or surgical, 
chronic medical, chromosomal, perinatal/neonatal event, malignancy and infection. Small numbers 
were attributable to non-medical causes including trauma, deliberate harm/abuse/neglect, 
suicide/self-harm and sudden unexpected/unexplained death (see Appendix 1). 
 
Of the cases closed, 61 were female (46%) and 68 males (54%). This gender balance is in line with 
previous regional and national results. This difference is marked in age categories, reflecting that 
certain causes of death are gender and age specific. For example, trauma is more common in the older 
children/adolescents and males. However, owing to small numbers in these categories, it is difficult 
to draw significant conclusions. 
 
GM has a significantly higher Black, Asian, and minority ethnic (BAME) child population (28%) than the 
UK average (15%).  63% of cases closed were children of White British ethnicity, whilst 37% were 
children from BAME groups.  This clearly shows a higher proportion of child deaths within the BAME 
communities.  These numbers represent 1.75 per 10,000 White British child deaths, compared to 2.81 
per 10,000 BAME child deaths. This difference represents a significant health inequality.  
 
Poverty and deprivation correlates closely with the patterns of child deaths in GM.  34% of children in 
GM fall within the fifth most deprived areas in England and Wales.  Of the 129 cases closed, 55% of 
children lived in the most deprived quintile, compared to 62% in the previous year. A further 20% of 
deaths occurred in the second most deprived quintile meaning three quarters of all children who died 
resided in areas of deprivation.  
 
A death is deemed to have potentially modifiable factors, where factors are identified as having 
contributed to the death of the child and which might, by means of locally or nationally achievable 

Page 35



Page 4 of 22 

 

intervention, be modified to reduce the risk of future child deaths. Specific examples of modifiable 
factors considered across GM can include unsafe sleeping arrangements where sudden 
unexpected/unexplained death occurs, maternal obesity in pregnancy in perinatal/neonatal deaths, 
and consanguinity in chromosomal, genetic and congenital anomaly related deaths.  Modifiable 
factors were identified in 40% of all closed cases. Nationally, 27% of cases are identified to have 
associated modifiable factors meaning GM is above the national average.  
 
Smoking was identified as a modifiable factor in 10% of all cases closed. Smoking was also identified 
as a risk factor (relevance score of 2, see Section 3: Modifiable Factors and Relevant Risk Factors) that 
may have contributed to vulnerability, ill health or death of the child.  
 
Maternal obesity in pregnancy (Body Mass Index (BMI) 30+) was identified as a potentially modifiable 
factor in 9% of cases closed and considered a risk factor that may have contributed to vulnerability, ill 
health or death of the child in 11% of all cases. This is broadly in line with previous year’s reports.  
 
Though numbers are relatively small, this emphasises smoking and maternal obesity as key 
contributing factors and modifiable factors to child death.  Despite ongoing efforts to reduce both, 
their influence in the death of children remains steady. The links between smoking and maternal 
obesity strongly correlate with deprivation, meaning highlighting a significant health inequality.  
 
 
1.3 The Child Death Review Process 
This is the 8th GM CDOPs Annual Report.  In line with the publication of Working Together to Safeguard 
Children (2006), CDOPs became a statutory function from 1st April 2008.  Local Safeguarding Children 
Boards (LSCBs) were tasked with establishing a multi-disciplinary CDOP Subgroup to conduct a review 
into the death of all children 0-17 years of age, normally resident in their geographical area.  Following 
government recommendations that CDOPs cover a population of at least 500,000, four CDOPs were 
established across the GM footprint in conjunction with local coronial jurisdictions: 
 

- Bury, Rochdale & Oldham CDOP 
- Bolton, Salford & Wigan CDOP 
- Stockport, Trafford & Tameside CDOP 
- Manchester CDOP 

 
In October 2018, HM Government published the revised Child Death Review: Statutory and 
Operational Guidance (England) for Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCG) and Local Authorities as the 
Child Death Review Partners (CDR Partners)1.  The guidance sets out the process that should be 
followed following the death of a child who is normally resident in England and adds detail to statutory 
requirements set out in Working Together to Safeguard Children (2018). The aim of the child death 
review process is to ensure that information is systematically captured for every death to enable 
learning and prevent future deaths.   
 
2019/20 has been a period of change for CDOPs nationally following the publication of the revised 
guidance. The new arrangements build on the interface between the hospital/community led 
mortality reviews, also known as Child Death Review Meetings (CDRM), and the final CDOP review.  It 
was anticipated that nationally CDOPs would see a decrease in the number of cases closed whilst new 
procedures were being imbedded.   
 

 
1 Child death review: statutory and operational guidance (England) https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/child-
death-review-statutory-and-operational-guidance-england  

Page 36

https://www.aoc.co.uk/sites/default/files/Working_Together_to_Safeguard_Children.pdf
https://www.aoc.co.uk/sites/default/files/Working_Together_to_Safeguard_Children.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/child-death-review-statutory-and-operational-guidance-england
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/child-death-review-statutory-and-operational-guidance-england
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/child-death-review-statutory-and-operational-guidance-england
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/child-death-review-statutory-and-operational-guidance-england


Page 5 of 22 

 

The National Child Mortality Database (NCMD) is a repository of data relating to all child deaths in 
England.  The NCMD was commissioned by the Healthcare Quality Improvement Partnership (HQIP) 
on behalf of NHS England and is delivered by the University of Bristol, in collaboration with the 
University of Oxford, University College London (UCL) Partners and the software company QES.  The 
NCMD enables more detailed analysis and interpretation of all data arising from the CDOP process, to 
ensure that lessons are learned following a child’s death, that learning is widely shared and that 
actions are taken locally and nationally, to reduce child mortality.   
 
As of the 1st April 2019, it became a legal requirement that CDOPs across England submit data via the 
NCMD, from all completed Department of Health and Social Care (DHSC) CDOP templates, forms 
associated with the child death review process and the analysis of information about the deaths 
reviewed.  This includes, but is not limited to, providing all data and information as collated using the 
national DHSC CDOP templates such as the Notification Form (Form A), the Reporting Form (Form B), 
additional Supplementary Reporting Forms and the Analysis Form (Form C).  Local CDOP data 
submitted to the NCMD will support national learning and reviews.   
 
Whilst the GM CDOPs welcomed the introduction of the NCMD, to support and identify local and 
national learning, this impacted heavily upon CDOP business functions and the time taken to manually 
input all of the requested NCMD data requirements for cases closed whilst maintaining NCMD live 
records for every child death notification therefore resulting in fewer cases closed across GM.  
Following changes to the national CDOP templates the current local GM CDOP Database is no longer 
fit for purpose and there are hopes to purchase and implement the eCDOP system. 
 
Each of the four GM CDOPs s meet regularly to discuss child deaths for their areas. This process can 
only occur once coronial investigations have concluded and the final cause of death has been 
ascertained. Likewise, any death associated with criminal activity can only be discussed once court 
proceedings or child safeguarding practice reviews and internal agency reviews have concluded.  
 
The review process is based on information gathered about the child, their family environment, their 
home environment and their access to services. This allows the CDOP to reflect on the presence of 
risk factors and their contribution to the death of the child.  GM CDOPs draw conclusions on what may 
be influencing child deaths and make recommendations to appropriate authorities and agencies to 
prevent further deaths. This data is submitted to the Department of Health and Social Care (DHSC) via 
the NCMD.   
 
 
1.4 Child Health Profile 
Infant, child and adolescent death rates have been decreasing steadily since the 1980s in England and 
Wales. The lowest ever recorded rate was in 2014 with 3.6 deaths per 1000 live births, rising to 3.9 in 
2018. The most recent data from 2019 demonstrates a modest decrease to 3.8. These figures 
demonstrate that the steady decrease in child deaths has plateaued2.  
 
Though England often performs more poorly than other comparable European nations on child death 
statistics, the causes for this are complex3. Consequently, the solutions to this appear equally difficult. 
There are marked social inequalities in child death rates in multiple domains including poverty levels 
and ethnicity. The majority of deaths occur in the first year of life. After this, death by trauma, injury 
and suicide/self-harm remain key causes of death in childhood. 
 

 
2 PHE Fingertips Tool – Child and maternal health profiles, 2019. 
3 Wolfe I, MacFarlane A, Donkin A, Marmot M, Viner R. Why children die: death in infants, children, and young people in 
the UK - Part A. London: RCPCH, NCB, BACAPH, May 2014.  

Page 37

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/child-death-reviews-forms-for-reporting-child-deaths


Page 6 of 22 

 

2. GREATER MANCHESTER CHILD DEATH OVERVIEW PANELS CHILD DEATHS 2019/20  
 
 
2.1 Child Death Notifications & Cases Closed 
Between 1st April 2019 and 31st March 2020 (2019/20) there were 240 child death notifications and 
129 cases closed. 30% of the deaths notified during 2019/20 were also closed in the same period. 
Cases notified data does not provide a full dataset but supports real time information about the 
frequency of child deaths and their area of residence.  
 

 
 
Owing to changes to the child death review process, there has been a decrease in the number of cases 
closed compared with previous years. The number of 2019/20 child death notifications has remained 
stable.  Since records on child deaths began in the 1980s, there has been a steady reduction in the 
rate of child death. This reduction stalled in the last few years, leading to a ‘levelling out’ of the death 
rates, with some areas appearing to show a slight increase in the rates of death. The chart below uses 
rates of notified deaths per 10,000, rather than closed cases, as this provides a more accurate and 
contemporaneous overview of child death patterns across the four CDOP areas.  
 

Figure 2: Rate of child death notifications per 10,000 by CDOP area 2015/20 

As demonstrated, all areas but Stockport, Tameside, Trafford demonstrated an increase in rate of child 
death notification compared to the previous year (see Appendix 2). 

Bolton
10%

Bury
7%

Manchester
25%

Oldham
18%

Rochdale
9%

Salford
6%

Stockport
6%

Tameside
5%

Trafford
3%

Wigan
10%

Figure 1.1: Percentage of child death 
notifications by local authority

Bolton
5%

Bury
5%

Manchester
31%

Oldham
12%

Rochdale
6%

Salford
7%

Stockport
11%

Tameside
9%

Trafford
5%

Wigan
9%

Figure 1.2: Percentage of cases closed 
by local authority

0

1.75

3.5

5.25

7

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

Bolton, Salford & Wigan Bury, Oldham & Rochdale Manchester Stockport, Tameside & Trafford

Page 38



Page 7 of 22 

 

2.2 Duration of Reviews 
The duration of a review refers to the time taken from notification of the death to closing the case at 
the CDOP. Certain categories of deaths can take longer to close, for example, if a post mortem 
examination is required or the death is subject to pending investigations. The average time taken to 
close a case was 391 days. 30% of the 2019/20 child death notifications were closed in the same period 
so there is limited real time data in the CDOP analysis.  Conclusions are drawn over a number of years 
rather than a single report. 
 

Figure 3: Average duration of reviews (from date of notification to date closed) by local authority 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
2.3 Categorisation of Death 
There are 10 defined categories to which all deaths can be ascribed. It is hierarchical, so should a death 
fall into more than one category the cause highest on the list is chosen. These nationally defined 
categorises allow standardisation across the country.  These categories are: 
 

1. Deliberately inflicted injury, abuse or neglect 
2. Suicide or deliberate self-harm 
3. Trauma and other external factors 
4. Malignancy 
5. Acute medical or surgical condition 
6. Chronic medical condition 
7. Chromosomal, genetic and congenital abnormalities 
8. Perinatal/neonatal event 
9. Infection 
10. Sudden unexpected, unexplained death 

 
There has been a consistent pattern in the categories of death over a number of years. 
Perinatal/neonatal events remain the single largest category of death, with chromosomal, genetic and 
congenital causes second. These 2 categories account for over half of all closed cases.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

0

175

350

525

700

Page 39



Page 8 of 22 

 

Figure 4: Percentage of cases closed by category of death 2019/20 

 
 
 
 
2.4 Age 
The correlation between age and death is well established, with the first 28 days of life (neonate) 
being the most vulnerable period, accounting for 36% of the cases closed. The majority of these deaths 
were catergorised as a perinatal/neonatal events i.e. problems in the antenatal period, during labour, 
birth and the first 28 days of life. 64% of all deaths occurred in the first year of life4. 
 
For 2019/20, there is generally an inverse relationship between increasing age and proportion of 
deaths. This is different to previous years in which the 15-17 age group showed a spike in deaths due 
to risk taking behaviour including death by suicide. The numbers for these older groups are small and 
require caution in their interpretation. 
 

Figure 5: Percentage of cases closed by category for each age group 

 
 

 
4 Zhao, D. et al, 2016, Gender Differences in Infant Mortality and Neonatal Morbidity in Mixed-Gender Twins. Scientific 
Reports, 7, 8736: 1-6: http://www.nature.com/articles/s41598-017-08951-6  

Perinatal/Neonatal event
32%

Infection

Sudden Unexpected/Unexplained Death
15%Deliberate Injury/Abuse/Neglect

1%

Suicide/Deliberate Self-Harm
2%

Trauma/Other External Factor
8%

Malignancy
5%

Acute Medical/Surgical 
2%

Chronic Condition
5%

Chromosomal/Genetic/Congen.
23%

0

25

50

75

100

Neonate Infant 1 - 4 5 - 9 10 - 14 15 - 17

Sudden unexpected / unexplained death

Infection

Perinatal / Neonatal event

Chromosomal / genetic / congenital

Chronic medical condition

Acute medical or surgical condition

Malignancy

Trauma / other external factors

Suicide or deliberate self harm

Deliberately inflicted injury, abuse or neglect

Page 40

http://www.nature.com/articles/s41598-017-08951-6


Page 9 of 22 

 

2.5 Sex 
Of the 129 closed cases, 68 were males (60%) and 61 females (40%) which is broadly in line with 
previous GM results. For example, the split in 2017/18 was 58 to 42, and in 2018/19 60 to 40 in males 
and females respectively. This is also in keeping with national data. Why this should be the case is not 
well understood5. Though there are 1053 males born to every 1000 females in the UK, this discrepancy 
does not account for differences seen in death rates. 
 
 
2.6 Location at Time of Death  
47% of cases closed were children that died in hospital (although the preceding event itself may have 
occurred in the community), 26% at home and 27% in ‘other’ settings. This represents a significant 
decrease in the number of deaths in an acute hospital setting from 2018/19 (71%) and an increase in 
the percentage of deaths occurring at home (20%).  The deaths out of hospital/out of home represent 
a range of locations from abroad (multiple countries), public spaces, highways and some in a hospice 
setting.  
 
 
2.7 Expected & Unexpected Deaths 
A unexpected death is defined as ‘the death of an infant or child which was not anticipated as a 
significant possibility for example, 24 hours before the death; or where there was an unexpected 
collapse or incident leading to or precipitating the events which lead to the death’6. 
 
Where recorded, 56% of deaths were deemed expected. This is broadly in line with the previous 5 
years of annual reports, all of which were between 60-69%.  Proportions of expected deaths per age 
category gives similar results year on year. Broadly, most neonatal/infant deaths are expected, with a 
large proportion of these associated with prematurity. In line with previous results, there is an increase 
in the proportion of expected deaths in the age group 5-9 years, relative to other age groups.  Deaths 
in the eldest age category are mainly unexpected with causes of death including suicide and trauma 
related events accounting for the most.  
 
 

Figure 6: Percentage of cases closed, expected deaths per age group 

 
 

 
5 Drevenstedt, G., et al., 2008, The rise and fall of excess male infant mortality, Proceedings of the National Academy of 
Sciences of the United States of America, 105 (13), 5016-5021.  
6 Working Together to Safeguard Children 2015  

0

25

50

75

100

<28 days 28 - 364 days 1 - 4 years 5 - 9 years 10 - 14 years 15 - 17 years

Expected Unexpected Not Known

Page 41



Page 10 of 22 

 

2.8 Neonatal & Infant Deaths (0-365 Days of Life) 
Neonates are defined as babies under 28 days of life and infants as those aged between 28 days and 
365 days of life. This group has represented the lion’s share of child deaths throughout the history of 
CDOP reporting. For example, in 2018/19, 42% of all GM deaths occurred in the neonatal period and 
61% in the first year of life. Results from 2019/20 demonstrate a similar pattern with 36% of cases 
closed occurring in the neonatal period and 64% in the first year.  
 
The most common causes of death for this age category are perinatal/neonatal events, followed by 
chromosomal, genetic and congenital anomalies, and sudden unexpected/unexplained death, making 
up 32, 15 and 13 cases respectively. The numbers for the other causes of death in this age category 
are too small to draw any meaningful conclusions.  
 
Chromosomal, genetic and congenital anomalies related deaths account for the second largest share 
of neonatal and infant deaths both regionally and nationally7. Where recorded, 63% of those children 
catergorised as having chromosomal, genetic and congenital anomalies, resided in the most deprived 
quintile.  
 
 
2.9 Gestational Age 
Prematurity is categorised as: 

- Extreme prematurity (<26 weeks) 
- Premature (26 to <37 weeks) 
- Term (37+ weeks) 

 
In 2019/20, 49% of all neonatal cases closed were infants born extremely premature and a further 
23% premature. This is in line with the results of previous reports with 59% extremely premature and 
21% premature in 2018/19. 
 
 
2.10  Birth Weight 
Low birth weight (LBW) is associated with an increased risk of infant and child mortality. It is associated 
with multiple factors including maternal smoking, maternal age/weight and multiple births. Whilst 
birth weight correlates with gestational age, babies born on the lowest centiles for their gestational 
age have the poorest prognosis. Low birth weight is also linked to maternal health which strongly 
correlates with deprivation and socioeconomic status. Low birth weight is categorised as:  
 

- Low Birth Weight (LBW) <2500g 
- Very Low Birth Weight (VLBW) <1500g 
- Extremely Low Birth Weight (ELBW) <1000g 

 
Owing to small numbers ELBW and VLBW have been grouped together in this report. Where recorded, 
23% were deemed LBW and 33% VLBW. This is an improvement on 2018/19 where these values were 
19% and 50% respectively.  
 
 
2.11 Ethnicity 
Ethnicity was recorded in all closed cases in 2019/20. As per the 2011 census data, 14.6% of the UK 
population is classified as belonging to BAME ethnic groups8. Since 2017, subcategories of BAME 

 
7 National Perinatal Epidemiology Unit. The contribution of congenital anomalies to infant mortality. Oxford: University of 
Oxford, 2010. Inequalities in Infant Mortality Project Briefing Paper 4.  
8 Source: ONS Census data, 2011 applied to 2019 mid-year population estimates  

Page 42



Page 11 of 22 

 

groups have been established. GM has a significant ethnically diverse population in comparison to the 
national average, with 28% classified as BAME. Indeed, this is the case for all local authorities aside 
from Wigan which is lower than the national average (see Appendix 3).  63% of the cases closed were 
children of White British ethnicity and 37% from BAME groups. This is in line with national data. Closed 
cases demonstrate 1.75 per 10,000 White British child deaths, compared to 2.81 per 10,000 BAME 
child deaths in GM.  
 
Significant differences exist in rates of death between White and ethnic minority groups across GM. 
This is especially marked in certain local authorities with Manchester and Oldham being the most 
prominent. Across GM, this represents a 61% increased risk of death in BAME children compared to 
children who are White British.  
 
National research has identified certain ethnic groups at an increased risk of death by specific causes, 
notably in the first year of life. Pakistani children run the highest risk of death by chromosomal, 
genetic, congenital causes. Black children run the highest risk of death by sudden 
unexplained/unexpected death. The reasons behind this are complex and thought to represent a 
combination of deprivation, behavioural and cultural factors9 10. It has been suggested that pregnant 
women from BAME groups may face barriers in accessing appropriate healthcare, representing 
another potential health inequality11. 
 
 
2.12 Deprivation 
Factors for many causes of child death correlate with deprivation or socioeconomic inequality12. The 
Index of Multiple Deprivation is a composite score based on multiple factors including income, 
employment, education, health, and quality of home and community13. These scores allow 
populations to be categorised into quintiles with a score of 1 representing the most deprived and 5 
the least deprived quintile. In GM, 6 out of 10 local authorities have higher scores than the North West 
average and all but Trafford perform worse than the UK average. By this measure, Manchester is the 
most deprived area in GM with 41% of its population living in the most deprived quintile. Trafford is 
the least deprived with 3% living in the most deprived group. 

 
Figure 7: Number of cases closed by deprivation quintile 

 
9 ONS, Pregnancy and ethnic factors influencing births and infant mortality: 2013. 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/causesofdeath/bulletins/pregnancyan 
dethnicfactorsinfluencingbirthsandinfantmortality/2015-10-14#ethnicity 
10 DfE, Ethnicity, deprivation and educational achievement at age 16 in England: trends over time. June 2015.  
11 Hollowell. J, Oakley. L, Vigurs. C, Barnett-Page. E, Kavanagh. J & Oliver S. (2012) Increasing the early initiation of 
antenatal care by Black and Minority Ethnic women in the UK. Oxford: National Perinatal Epidemiology Unit.  
12 Wolfe I, MacFarlane A, Donkin A, Marmot M, Viner R. Why children die: death in infants, children, and young people in 
the UK - Part A. London : RCPCH, NCB, BACAPH, May 2014. Marmot, M, Goldblatt, P., Allen, J., 2010, Fair Society Healthy 
Lives. See: http://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/ 
13 CDOPs calculate an IMD score of a child’s lower-super-output-area using the national postcode lookup tool (http://imd-
by-postcode.opendatacommunities.org/). 

0
10
20
30
40
50

60
70
80

Quintile 1 Quintile 2 Quintile 3 Quintile 4 Quintile 5

Page 43



Page 12 of 22 

 

Figure 7 demonstrates the link between deprivation and risk of child death, with the risk steadily 
decreasing as deprivation decreases. Over half of all cases closed in 2019/20 were in the most deprived 
quintile, and a further 20% in the second most deprived; these two quintiles accounting for three 
quarters of all deaths. There is significant correlation between local authority levels of deprivation and 
child deaths. 
 

Figure 8: Percentage of cases closed by deprivation quintile per local authority 

 
 
 

3. MODIFIABLE FACTORS & RELEVANT RISK FACTORS 
When undertaking a child death review, the CDOP is responsible for identifying potentially modifiable 
factors. Categorising a death as having modifiable factors does not necessarily mean the CDOP regards 
the death in question as preventable, but that there may be emerging trends which could reduce the 
risk of future child deaths: 
 

Modifiable factors identified: The panel has identified one or more factors across any 
domain which may have contributed to the death of a child and which might, by means of 
locally or nationally achievable intervention, be modified to reduce the risk of future child 
deaths.  
 
No modifiable factors identified: The panel have not identified any potentially modifiable 
factors in relation to the death. 
 
Inadequate information upon which to make a judgement: the panel was not provided with 
sufficient information.  

 
The identification of modifiable factors depends heavily upon the circumstances leading to death and 
the cause of death ascertained.   Modifiable factors may include substance/alcohol misuse by the 
parent/carer, child abuse/neglect, consanguineous relationships and difficulties with access/uptake 
of healthcare services.  
 
The CDOP is responsible for analysing information to determine relevant risk factors that may have 
contributed to vulnerability, ill health or death of the child. These factors fall into four domains: 
 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Most Deprived Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Least Deprived Q5

Page 44



Page 13 of 22 

 

- Factors intrinsic to the child 
- Factors in social environment including family and parenting capacity 
- Factors in the physical environment  
- Factors in service provision 

 
For each of the four domains, the CDOP determines the level of relevance (0-2) for each factor, in 
relation to the registered cause of death and to inform learning of lessons at a local level. The 
categories are: 
 
0 - No information available  
1 - No factors identified, or factors were identified but are unlikely to have contributed to the death 
2 - Factors identified that may have contributed to vulnerability, ill health or death 
 
(There was previously a category 3 in which ‘factors identified provided a complete and sufficient 
explanation of death’, though this has been removed by the DHSC) 
 
Modifiable factors were identified in 40% of 2019/20 cases closed, 58% with no modifiable factors and 
2% having insufficient information to make a judgment. The most recent national data from 2017 
demonstrates modifiable factors were present in 27% of cases, indicating a significantly higher 
proportion of local cases where modifiable factors may have contributed to the death of the child.  
Across GM factors such as smoking, maternal substance use and unsafe sleeping arrangements are all 
identified as modifiable factors, although this is not the case across the whole of England. 
 
The GM CDOPs continue to conduct reviews in line with the agreed GM set standard of modifiable 
factors, as developed by the GM CDOP Network. The standard ensures consistency across the four 
GM CDOPs when undertaking review and identifying modifiable factors.  
 
A greater proportion of the 2019/20 cases closed were either neonatal deaths where maternal factors 
in pregnancy are identified, or sudden unexpected deaths, where risk factors in the sleeping 
environments are identified. Fewer hospital deaths were closed during 2019/2020, and these cases 
often have fewer modifiable factors identified.  
 
 

Figure 9: Number and percentage of cases closed with modifiable factors by CDOP area (2012/20) 
 

CDOP Area 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 

Bolton, Salford 
& Wigan 

39% (34) 28% (13) 26% (17) 38% (21) 34% (23) 35% (29) 44% (28) 26% (7) 

Bury, Oldham & 
Rochdale 

21% (15) 30% (17) 25% (20) 22% (16) 41% (21) 46% (33) 40% (21) 31% (9) 

Manchester 29% (16) 20% (10) 18% (15) 29% (16) 27% (17) 34% (21) 32% (15) 38% (16) 

Stockport, 
Tameside & 
Trafford 

18% (10) 27% (17) 31% (25) 42% (21) 29% (14) 47% (27) 38% (15) 65% (20) 

 
 
 

Page 45



Page 14 of 22 

 

3.1 Smoking   
Smoking in pregnancy is associated with multiple poor health outcomes14. These include reduced fetal 
growth, higher risk of miscarriage and still birth, low birth weight and increased risk of sudden 
unexpected death in infancy. It is estimated that maternal smoking can increase the risk of child 
mortality by 40%, as well as increasing risk of disease in later life15. 
 
Public Health England (PHE) uses smoking at time of delivery (SATOD) to measure how many women 
continue to smoke during pregnancy. The most recent figures show this to be 10.8% nationally and 
12.6% in GM16. Of the 10 GM local authorities, 7 were deemed to have SATOD rates above the national 
average, all of which scored above average in the Index of Multiple Deprivation rankings. Indeed, over 
half of the cases in 2019/20 where smoking was deemed likely to have contributed to the death of a 
child were in families in the lowest deprivation quintile. For 2019/20, 15% of deaths involved maternal 
smoking which was considered a modifiable factor. This is an increase from the 11% of cases in which 
smoking was a modifiable factor in 2018/19.  
 
 
3.2 Maternal Obesity in Pregnancy   
As with smoking, maternal raised body mass index (BMI) scores are associated with worse outcomes 
for infants including miscarriage and still birth as well as complications with delivery17 18. As a 
consequence, across GM, a maternal BMI of 30 and over or a BMI less than 18.5 has been considered 
a potentially modifiable factor in perinatal/neonatal deaths due factors including prematurity delivery 
and difficulties in labour. The link between obesity and deprivation is well established. BMI can be 
stratified as follows: 
 

- <18.5:   Underweight 
- 18.5-24.9:  Healthy 
- 25-29.9:  Overweight  
- 30-39.9:  Obese  
- >40:   Morbidly Obese 

 
Maternal obesity was recorded as a modifiable factor in 11% (14) of cases closed. This is an increase 
from the 8% of cases closed in 2018/19, though broadly in line with the national trend which 
demonstrates a steady year-on-year increase in levels of maternal obesity as a modifiable factor.  
 
 
3.3 Genetic Disorders & Consanguinity 
Consanguinity is defined as a relationship between two people who share an ancestor, or share blood.  
There is an increased risk of congenital birth defects and genetic conditions in consanguineous 
relationships.  Unrelated parents have a 2% risk of having a child with a severe abnormality, whilst 
parents who are first cousins have a 5% risk and second cousins have a 3% risk. However, couples that 
are more closely related, such as a family with a history of cousin marriages going back generations, 
will have a higher risk of having a child with autosomal recessive disorders.   
 
As a couple may not be aware that they carry a gene anomaly in their first pregnancy, this is not 
recorded as a modifiable factor by GM CDOPs. However, if a condition is recognised in a first 

 
14 J R Coll Physicians Lond. 1992 Oct;26(4):352-6. Smoking and the young 
15 NICE Guidance PH26 (2010) Smoking: stopping in pregnancy and after childbirth. 
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph26/chapter/2-public-health-need-and-practice 
16 http://fingertips.phe.org.uk/search/smoking 
17 Parliamentary Office of Science and Technology, 2016, Infant Mortality and Stillbirth in the UK. Available at: 
http://researchbriefings.files.parliament.uk/documents/POST-PN-0527/POST-PN-0527.pdf  
18 Maternal obesity in the UK: findings from a national project (2010) UK. Centre for Maternal and Child Enquiries  

Page 46

https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph26/chapter/2-public-health-need-and-practice


Page 15 of 22 

 

pregnancy/child and then a second child is born with the same condition, this is deemed potentially 
modifiable.   
 
Over the past several CDOP reports, the numbers of deaths in which consanguinity was deemed a risk 
factor has decreased, falling to fewer than 3% of cases (<5 cases in total in 2018/19).  For 2019/20 
cases closed, there were 11 deaths where consanguinity was considered a contributing factor to a 
death of the child which represents 9% of all child deaths.  Despite this, it was considered a modifiable 
factor in only 3 cases, owing to the above definition that it is only considered modifiable in the event 
of a second affected pregnancy/child.  
 
All 11 cases where consanguinity was identified as a factor were children from Asian/Asian British 
communities, 9 children being of Pakistani heritage.  1.1 per 10,000 BAME children in GM will die of a 
congenital problem, compared to 0.15 per 10,000 White British children, representing a near 7 fold 
increased risk in BAME groups19 20. This emphasises that education of congenital disorders will require 
complex and sensitive societal interventions. The Manchester Foundation Trust Genetics Service is 
developing strategies to support both practitioners and families to raise awareness of genetic 
disorders and the support available.  
 
 
3.4 Alcohol & Substance Use  
In 2019/20, 8% of cases closed were identified as having substance or alcohol use as a factor which 
may have contributed to the death of the child. Over the past 2 reports, this number has been 5%.  
Though numbers are small, substance and alcohol is recognised in cases categorised as a 
perinatal/neonatal event or sudden and unexpected death in infancy. 
 
 
3.5 Unsafe Sleeping Arrangements  
Whilst unsafe sleeping practices may not be proven causal in sudden and unexpected deaths of 
infants, it’s recognised as a strong correlation between unsafe sleeping and child deaths. Across GM, 
when one risk factor is present such as maternal smoking it is usually associated with other risk factors. 
Educational campaigns to raise awareness of safer sleeping arrangements have shown to be effective 
and have reduced the number of deaths due to sudden infant death syndrome (SIDS). 5% of the 
2019/20 cases closed, compared to the 4% in the previous two GM CDOPs reports, identified co-
sleeping as a potentially modifiable factor. Maternal smoking in pregnancy and household smoking is 
recorded as a contributing factor but these factors overlap significantly.  
 
 
3.6 Domestic Abuse & Violence 
There were 9 cases closed where domestic abuse/violence was present and thought to be a relevant 
contributing factor which represents 7% of all cases closed. It must be emphasised that these numbers 
are small and may not represent a statistically significant change. 
 
 
 
 
 

 
19 Gil, M., Giunta, G., Macalli, E., Poon, L. & Nicolaides, K. (2015) UK NHS pilot study on cell-free DNA testing in screening 
for fetal trisomies: factors affecting uptake. Ultrasound in Obstetrics and Gynecology. 45(1) pp. 67-73. DOI: 
10.1002/uog.14683  
20 National Perinatal Epidemiology Unit. The contribution of congenital anomalies to infant mortality. Oxford: University of 
Oxford, 2010. Inequalities in Infant Mortality Project Briefing Paper 4. 

Page 47



Page 16 of 22 

 

3.7 Access & Uptake of Healthcare Services 
Accessing and uptake of appropriate healthcare was noted as a modifiable factor in 7 cases, the 
majority of which were categorised as a perinatal/neonatal event. There appears to be a link between 
accessing and uptake of healthcare services in areas of deprivation, with all cases in the two most 
deprived quintiles. It is also possible that there is a discrepancy in access to health care between 
ethnicities, though numbers are insufficiently large in this report to draw a meaningful conclusion21. 
Homelessness was referenced in several of these cases. This may draw attention to a possible lack of 
support and service uptake for mothers and families with no fixed abode. 
 
 
3.8 Social Environment, Family & Parenting Capacity   
Poor parenting was identified as a risk factor in 15 deaths, whilst child abuse/neglect was identified 
as a risk factor in 10 deaths. There is considerable overlap between these two categories.  The factors 
stated above give an indication of the increased need for multi-agency support for the family. 
 
 

4. CONCLUSION 
Though there has been a reduction in the number of closed cases for the period 2019/20 (129), the 
number of child death notifications remains steady (240). This means that rates of child death in the 
GM population have not decreased in the last year. The number of closed cases, is significantly fewer 
this year than in previous years. This reflects national changes in the operational aspects of the child 
death review process. Unfortunately, this makes statistical analysis difficult owing to the very small 
numbers of children in certain categories, and the skew towards the relative increase in the proportion 
of other categorises. 
 
The majority of deaths continue to occur in the first year of life, with the first 28 days being the most 
vulnerable. The figures for these age groups remain roughly the same as in previous years. 
Perinatal/neonatal events account for the majority of these deaths, closely followed by chromosomal, 
genetic and congenital anomalies.  These proportions are in line with previous reports and also 
correlate with factors such as deprivation levels, consanguinity and maternal health. Improvements 
to neonatal care have contributed to preventing and in some cases delaying death, especially in the 
premature infants. certain Modifiable factors such as maternal smoking and maternal obesity in 
pregnancy continue to be key factors in deaths categorised as a perinatal/neonatal event. Further 
efforts to reduce the impact of these factors should be a public health priority for all agencies.  
 
The older age groups, 1-4, 5-9, 10-14 and 15-17 years of age, account for 15%, 7%, 10% and 4% of 
deaths respectively. Though they largely follow the trend from previous years the absolute numbers 
in the eldest groups are very small, meaning that it is difficult to draw meaningful conclusions in 
isolation and must be viewed as a trend over several years. The vast majority (72%) of these deaths 
are due to medical causes (perinatal/neonatal, acute medical, chromosomal, chronic medical, 
malignancy, infection). This demonstrates that good antenatal, postnatal and ongoing medical care 
remain integral to reducing both infant and child mortality.  
 
The two eldest age groups (10-14 and 15-17 years of age) remain particularly vulnerable to the non-
medical causes of death, including suicide and trauma related death. This is in line with national results 
and statistics from previous reports, though, it is not possible to state their statistical significance as 
they represent only a handful of cases closed rather than real-time notification data. Anecdotally, 
there continues to be an increase in the apparent suicide of adolescents over the last few years. These 
cases are yet to be closed, and owing to their complexity may not be closed for some time. These 

 
21 Hollowell. J, Oakley. L, Vigurs. C, Barnett-Page. E, Kavanagh. J & Oliver S. (2012) Increasing the early initiation of 
antenatal care by Black and Minority Ethnic women in the UK. Oxford: National Perinatal Epidemiology Unit.  

Page 48



Page 17 of 22 

 

delays may obscure trauma and apparent suicide related deaths as an ongoing or growing problem. 
This may be further exacerbated in the coming year(s) due to the effect of the COVID-19 pandemic on 
social and medical services. Indeed, there are indications that the ‘lockdown’ period has seen a further 
increase in apparent suicides. As one child suicide is one too many, this report emphasises the need 
for GM to continue in its suicide prevention strategy and streamline its reporting process.  
 
There continues to be a link between the rate of child deaths and deprivation, with the majority of 
closed cases involving children, and their family, residing in the most deprived quintile. Whilst tackling 
deprivation lies outside the scope of this report, it stands to show that the underlying causes of infant 
and child mortality rates are complex and long term solutions are required such as tackling the access 
and uptake of healthcare services in areas of deprivation and BAME communities.  
 
Modifiable factors were present in 40% of cases closed. Much like deprivation, and often inextricably 
linked, factors such as smoking, substance use and maternal obesity in pregnancy may be deemed 
contributing factors to death. With regards to the latter, the growing problem of obesity represents a 
real future challenge for local authorities. Smoking rates remains higher in areas of deprivation than 
the national and regional rates.  Consanguinity associated with congenital abnormalities remains a 
significant contributing factor in deaths across GM. This report has identified Manchester’s Pakistani 
population at particularly high risk for congenital abnormalities, strongly correlating with 
consanguineous relationships. As with many cultural/social practices, this is a complex issue requiring 
sensitive and community inclusive solutions.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 49



Page 18 of 22 

 

5. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

The following should be considered by the 10 GM Local Safeguarding Partnerships and Health and 
Wellbeing Boards including distribution to relevant agencies: 
 
 
1. Health inequalities lie at the heart of child deaths across GM. BAME communities are 

disproportionately represented with in child deaths, with a strong link to deprivation. This report 
must be used, in conjunction with other relevant data, to show how reducing inequalities will 
improve the life chances for children with particular attention and support provided for BAME 
communities. 
 

2. Smoking remains a key modifiable factor contributing to child deaths.  GM has made progress in 
reducing smoking with mothers who smoke during pregnancy being identified as a priority group. 
This work must continue to drive down smoking rates in the GM population. 
 

3. Obesity is also a major public health issue and maternal obesity in pregnancy remains a key 
modifiable factor. GM local authorities need to reduce levels of obesity throughout the 
population with a focus on maternal obesity to improve the health and wellbeing of the mother 
and the unborn child, in order to contribute to the reduction in childhood mortality. 
 

4. In light of the small numbers of cases closed in each report, it is often difficult to detect significant 
patterns in annual trends.  By pooling the data gathered over a longer period of time, it may be 
possible to draw reliable statistical conclusions.  The GM CDOPs are to explore any 
potential capacity and resources available to carry out an additional review such as a 5 year 
snapshot of cases closed. 

 
5. Though based on anecdotal evidence from child death notifications reported to the GM CDOPs, 

there appears to have been an increase in the rate of apparent suicide in adolescents. Naturally, 
these cases will require lengthy reviews due to pending investigations. Owing to the urgency of 
these deaths and the potential to identify real time emerging themes, this report recommends a 
streamlining of reporting to CDOPs where suicide is deemed likely cause of death, to provide live 
data to support appropriate suicide prevention agencies. An appropriate electronic system will 
need to be implemented to support such requests for live data to highlight real time trends. 

 
6. Following the introduction of the NCMD (1st April 2019), CDOPs have a statutory requirement to 

submit data relating to all child deaths in England.  The CDOP data is used to support the NCMD 
influence national strategy and improve the child death review process.  The NCMD programme 
team requests real time data to support changes to NHS systems and promote public health 
messages.  Due to the level of data collated and national demand for information, 52 of the 54 
CDOPs (outside of GM) have purchased the eCDOP system which automatically populations the 
NCMD and supports local CDOPs identity live emerging trends.  The GM CDOPs have been in 
discussions with QES, as the eCDOP provider, regarding the functionality of the system and how 
this will support clinicians, multi-agency representatives, local CDOPs and fulfil national statutory 
requirements. GM CDOP Chairs are to liaise with local authority budget holders in their area(s) to 
request and agree funding arrangements to purchase and implement eCDOP.   

 
 
 
 
 

Page 50



Page 19 of 22 

 

6. APPENDICES  
 
 

Appendix 1: Number of 2019/20 GM CDOPs cases closed, duration of reviews (average, minimum 

and maximum days) by category of death 
 
 

Category 
No. Cases 

Closed 
Average Min Days Max Days 

1. Deliberately inflicted injury, abuse or neglect * 963 963 963 

2. Suicide or deliberate self-harm * 406 331 500 

3. Trauma and other external factors 10 439 101 1072 

4. Malignancy 6 465 171 801 

5. Acute medical or surgical condition * 601 339 1079 

6. Chronic medical condition 6 396 104 786 

7. Chromosomal, genetic and congenital abnormalities 29 239 100 641 

8. Perinatal/ neonatal event 41 392 91 1918 

9. Infection 9 400 93 1596 

10. Sudden unexpected, unexplained death 20 445 211 1079 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 51



Page 20 of 22 

 

Appendix 2: Number of 2019/20 GM CDOPs child death notifications and cases closed by rate per 

10,000 population 
 

Local Authority 
No. Deaths 
Notification 

Rate of deaths 
notifications (per 

10,000 
population) 

No. Cases 
Closed 

Rate of Cases 
closed (per 10,000 

population) 

Bolton 25 3.69 8 1.02 

Bury 16 3.7 7 1.62 

Manchester 61 5 41 3.25 

Oldham 43 7.23 14 2.52 

Rochdale 22 4.18 8 1.5 

Salford 15 2.65 9 1.57 

Stockport 15 2.37 14 2.2 

Tameside 12 2.39 11 2.37 

Trafford 8 1.42 6 1.06 

Wigan 23 3.36 11 1.6 

Greater Manchester CDOPs 240 3.77 129 2 

Bolton, Salford & Wigan 63 3.32 28 1.4 

Bury, Oldham & Rochdale 81 5.09 29 1.93 

Manchester 61 5.17 41 3.28 

Stockport, Tameside & Trafford 35 2.07 31 1.89 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 52



Page 21 of 22 

 

Appendix 3: Number and percentage of 2019/20 GM CDOPs cases closed by ethnicity per local 

authority 

 

Local Authority 
White BAME 

Number % Number % 

Bolton 46,502 68 21,883 32 

Bury 34,631 80 8,658 20 

Manchester 55,311 45 67,603 55 

Oldham 35,755 60 23,837 40 

Rochdale 36,243 68 17,056 32 

Salford 43,664 76 13,788 24 

Stockport 52,720 83 10,798 17 

Tameside 41,544 82 9,120 18 

Trafford 40,123 71 16,388 29 

Wigan 64,781 94 4,135 6 

Greater Manchester 451,275 72 178,003 28 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 53



Publication: 15 December 2020 

Appendix 4: Number and percentage of 2012/20 GM CDOPs cases closed by category of death 
 
 

Category of death 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 

Deliberately inflicted 
injury, abuse of neglect 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

Suicide or deliberate self-
harm 

11 4% * * * * 7 3% 6 3% * * * * 3 2% 

Trauma and other external 
factors 

* * 10 5% 14 5% 15 6% 8 7% 15 5% 13 6% 10 8% 

Malignancy 12 4% 20 9% 18 7% 15 6% 18 6% 20 7% 16 8% 6 5% 

Acute medical or surgical 
condition  

16 6% 20 9% * * 12 5% 11 5% 11 4% 14 67% 3 2% 

Chronic medical condition 11 4% 12 6% 10 4% 11 5% 7 5% 16 6% 8 4% 6 5% 

Chromosomal, genetic and 
congenital abnormalities 

70 26% 50 235 68 26% 56 24% 60 24% 67 24% 41 20% 29 23% 

Perinatal or neonatal 
event 

97 37% 81 38% 97 37% 78 33% 93 33% 102 37% 66 32% 41 32% 

Infection 18 7% * * 12 5% 18 8% 7 8% 12 4% 17 8% 9 8% 

Sudden unexpected or 
unexplained death 

20 7% 10 5% 19 7% 24 10% 16 10% 19 7% 20 9% 20 16% 

 

P
age 54



 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Child Death Review Data: 

Year ending 31 March 

2020 

 

November 2020 

 

Page 55

Agenda Item 8



    www.ncmd.info                                                                                                                                            2 

 

 
  

 

Contact us 

National Child Mortality Database (NCMD) Programme 

Level D, St Michael’s Hospital, Southwell Street, Bristol BS2 8EG 

• Email: ncmd-programme@bristol.ac.uk 

• Visit us our website: www.ncmd.info 

• Follow us on Twitter: @NCMD_England 

 

Acknowledgements 

The National Child Mortality Database (NCMD) programme is commissioned by the Healthcare 

Quality Improvement Partnership (HQIP) as part of the National Clinical Audit and Patient Outcomes 

Programme (NCAPOP). HQIP is led by a consortium of the Academy of Medical Royal Colleges, the 

Royal College of Nursing, and National Voices. Its aim is to promote quality improvement in patient 

outcomes. HQIP holds the contract to commission, manage and develop the National Clinical Audit 

and Patient Outcomes Programme (NCAPOP), comprising around 40 projects covering care provided 

to people with a wide range of medical, surgical and mental health conditions. NCAPOP is funded by 

NHS England, the Welsh Government and, with some individual projects, other devolved 

administrations and crown dependencies (www.hqip.org.uk/national-programmes).  

 

 

 

  

  

  

  

 

 

 
© 2020 Healthcare Quality Improvement Partnership (HQIP) 

Page 56

mailto:ncmd-programme@bristol.ac.uk
http://www.ncmd.info/
https://twitter.com/ncmd_england
http://www.hqip.org.uk/national-programmes


    www.ncmd.info                                                                                                                                            3 

 

 
  

Table of contents 

 

 
1. Introduction .......................................................................................................... 4 

2. Deaths occurring between 1 April 2019 and 31 March 2020 ............................. 5 

   The number of child death notifications (Reference Table 1) ....................................... 5 

3. Deaths reviewed between 1 April 2019 and 31 March 2020 .............................. 6 

   The number of child death reviews (Reference Table 1) ............................................. 6 

   Category of death (Reference Table 4) ....................................................................... 7 

   Demographics (Reference Table 9) ............................................................................ 8 

   Location (Reference Table 6) ...................................................................................... 9 

   Child Safeguarding Practice Review (Reference Table 7) ........................................... 9 

   Social care (Reference Table 8) ................................................................................ 10 

   Duration of reviews (Reference Table 2 & Reference Table 3) .................................. 10 

4. List of Reference Tables .................................................................................... 11 

5. Further information ............................................................................................ 11 

6. Technical information ........................................................................................ 12 

 

 

  

Page 57



    www.ncmd.info                                                                                                                                            4 

 

 
  

1. Introduction 
 

 

Child death review (CDR) processes are mandatory for Child Death Review Partners (CDR Partners) 

in England. The CDR process has been in place in England since 1 April 2008 and was previously the 

responsibility of Local Safeguarding Children Boards (LSCBs). CDR Partners are responsible for 

reviewing the deaths of all children up to the age of 18. This function is carried out through local Child 

Death Overview Panels (CDOPs). The overall purpose is to understand why children die and to put in 

place interventions to protect other children and reduce the risk of future deaths. 

In 2018, the Department of Health and Social Care (DHSC) published new and revised statutory and 

operational guidance related to CDR. The new guidance requires all CDR partners to gather 

information from every agency that has had contact with the child, during their life and after their 

death, including health and social care services, law enforcement, and education services. This is 

done using a set of statutory CDR forms. 

The National Child Mortality Database (NCMD) launched on 1 April 2019 and collates data collected 

by CDOPs in England from reviews of all children, who die at any time after birth before their 18th 

birthday. There is a statutory requirement for CDOPs to collect this data and to provide it to the 

NCMD. 

The data in this report covers the number of reviews of children whose death was reviewed by a 

CDOP between 1 April 2019 and 31 March 2020. It should be read in conjunction with the following 

two data tables: 

• Reference Tables – “Child Death Reviews Data (year ending 31 March 2020)” 

• Table 1 CSV data 

These data have been published for a number of years and are used by CDOPs to inform the 

production of their local annual reports. Data for 2018/19 and 2017/18 was published by NHS Digital 

and prior to that it was published by Department for Education. The format has been kept consistent 

with previous publications, however due to a change in data collection processes there are a few 

changes which are listed in Section 6. Additionally, it reports the number of notifications of children 

that died between 1 April 2019 and 31 March 2020. 

The second NCMD annual report will follow this publication in Spring 2021 to include detailed analysis 

along with key messages and recommendations informed by the data and in consultation with the 

NCMD stakeholder professional and public representation groups. 

 

Page 58

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/child-death-review-statutory-and-operational-guidance-england
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/child-death-review-statutory-and-operational-guidance-england
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/child-death-reviews-forms-for-reporting-child-deaths
https://www.ncmd.info/
https://www.ncmd.info/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/Reference-Tables_FINAL.xlsx
https://www.ncmd.info/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/Table-1-CSV-data-FINAL.csv


    www.ncmd.info                                                                                                                                            5 

 

 
  

2. Deaths occurring between 1 April 2019 and 31 March 2020 
 

 

This section of the report focuses on the number of child death notifications received by NCMD where 

the child died between 1 April 2019 and 31 March 2020.  

The number of child death notifications (Reference Table 1) 
 
The NCMD received 3,347 child death notifications from CDOPs in England where the child died 
between 1 April 2019 and 31 March 2020. CDOPs in the London region submitted the most child 
death notifications to NCMD (607), where the North East region submitted the least number of 
notifications (153).  
 
A more detailed breakdown of notification data will be available within the second NCMD Annual 
Report. 

 

 

  

Figure 1:  The number of child death notifications received by Child Death Overview Panels by 
region, Year ending 31 March 2020 

 

 
 

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

North East North West Yorkshire
and

Humberside

East
Midlands

West
Midlands

East of
England

London South East South West

Page 59

https://www.ncmd.info/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/Reference-Tables_FINAL.xlsx


    www.ncmd.info                                                                                                                                            6 

 

 
  

3. Deaths reviewed between 1 April 2019 and 31 March 2020 
 

 

This section of the report presents the number of child death reviews completed by CDOPs between 

1 April 2019 and 31 March 2020.  It is important to note that the CDOP review of the child death may 

not be completed in the same year as when the death occurred. Therefore, the population of children 

reported in Section 2 partially overlap but is distinct from the population of children described in this 

section of the report. 

 

During the child death review the CDOP is responsible for identifying any modifiable factors in relation 

to the child’s death. A modifiable factor is defined as any factor which, by means of nationally or 

locally achievable interventions, could be modified to reduce the risk of future child deaths.   

The number of child death reviews (Reference Table 1) 
 

2,738 child deaths were reviewed in England between 1 April 2019 and 31 March 2020, which is a 

decrease of 512 (16%) in comparison to the previous reporting year. The decrease in the number of 

reviews for 2019-20 is likely because fewer CDOP meetings took place whilst they were working 

under transitional arrangements. In addition, many CDOP meetings were cancelled in March 2020 

due to the response to the COVID-19 pandemic.  

 

862 (31%) of these reviews identified one or more modifiable factors. This percentage is comparable 

to the figure reported in 2018-19, but the proportion of cases identified with modifiable factors has 

increased by 7% since 2015-16.   

 

 

 

Figure 2:  The number of child death reviews completed by Child Death Overview Panels in England, 
Year ending 31 March 2020 
 

 
 

 

 

24%
27% 28% 30% 31%

3,665 3,575 3,595

3,250

2,738

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

40%

45%

50%

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

3,000

3,500

4,000

4,500

2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Reviews with modifiable factors (%) Number of child death reviews

Page 60

https://www.ncmd.info/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/Reference-Tables_FINAL.xlsx
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/722306/Working_Together-transitional_guidance.pdf
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/child-death-reviews/2019


    www.ncmd.info                                                                                                                                            7 

 

 
  

CDOPs in London reviewed the most child deaths (484), where the North East reviewed the least 

(110) which is consistent with the number of notifications submitted to NCMD. CDOPs in the North 

West identified the highest proportion (45%) of modifiable factors in the child death reviews they 

completed, where London reported the lowest proportion of cases with modifiable factors (24%).  

 

 

Category of death (Reference Table 4) 
 
CDOPs are required to assign a category of death to each death reviewed within the Analysis Form, 

the final output of the child death review process. The classification of categories is hierarchical where 

the uppermost selected category is recorded as the primary category should more than one category 

be selected.  

 

851 reviews (31%) recorded a primary category of “Perinatal/neonatal event”, and a further 674 

reviews (25%) recorded a primary category of “Chromosomal, genetic and congenital anomalies”. 

These two categories combined represent over half (56%) of reviews completed.  

 

Deaths with a primary category of  “Sudden unexpected and unexplained” had the highest proportion 

(75%) of deaths identified as having modifiable factors, closely followed by deaths with a primary 

category of  “Deliberately inflicted injury, abuse or neglect” (72%). Deaths with a primary category of 

“Malignancy” had the lowest proportion (5%) of deaths identified as having modifiable factors. This is 

consistent with previous years’ data. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 3:  The number of child death reviews completed by Child Death Overview Panels and the 
proportion of cases with modifiable factors identified by Region, Year ending 31 March 2020 
 

 

 

 

37% 45% 37% 37% 25% 28% 24% 28% 30%

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

North East North West Yorkshire
and

Humberside

East
Midlands

West
Midlands

East of
England

London South East South West

% of deaths with modifiable factors

Page 61

https://www.ncmd.info/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/Reference-Tables_FINAL.xlsx
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/child-death-reviews-forms-for-reporting-child-deaths
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/child-death-reviews/2019


    www.ncmd.info                                                                                                                                            8 

 

 
  

 

Demographics (Reference Table 9) 
 
Deaths occurring in the neonatal period (0–27 days) represented the largest proportion of deaths 

reviewed (n=1106, 41%) and a further 591 (22%) deaths were within the 28-364 days age group. 

Together, deaths where the child was aged under 1 represented 63% of child deaths reviewed during 

2019-20. The largest proportion of cases with modifiable factors identified was the 28-364 days age 

group (42%), where the lowest proportion was in the 5-9 years age group (20%).  

 

 

Figure 4:  The proportion of child death reviews completed by Child Death Overview Panels with 
modifiable factors identified by primary category of death, Year ending 31 March 2020 
 

 

 

 

 

 

75%

36%

33%

15%

16%

25%

5%

69%

57%

72%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Sudden unexpected, unexplained death

Infection

Perinatal/ neonatal event

Chromosomal, genetic and congenital anomalies

Chronic medical condition

Acute medical or surgical condition

Malignancy

Trauma and other external factors

Suicide or deliberate self-inflicted harm

Deliberately inflicted injury, abuse or neglect

Reviews where modifiable factors identified Reviews where no modifiable factors identified

Figure 5:  The number of child death reviews completed by Child Death Overview Panels by age group, 
Year ending 31 March 2020 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200

0 days-
27 days

28 days-
364 days

1 year-
4 years

5 years-
9 years

10 years-
14 years

15 years-
17 years

Reviews where modifiable factors identified Reviews where no modifiable factors identified

Page 62

https://www.ncmd.info/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/Reference-Tables_FINAL.xlsx


    www.ncmd.info                                                                                                                                            9 

 

 
  

Males represented just over half of child death reviews (56%) and had the same proportion of deaths 

identified as having modifiable factors to females (32%).  

 

1,570 reviews were completed of deaths of children from a White background, accounting for 65% of 

reviews completed where the child’s ethnicity was recorded. By contrast, 760 (31%) of the deaths 

reviewed were for children from a Black, Mixed or Asian ethnic background.  

Location (Reference Table 6) 
 
1,892 (70%) of the deaths reviewed occurred in a Hospital Trust and 532 (20%) of deaths reviewed 

had occurred at Home or another private residence. The highest proportion of deaths with modifiable 

factors could be seen in deaths that occurred in a public place (54%).  The lowest proportion of 

deaths with modifiable factors was seen in deaths that occurred in a Hospice (13%). 

 

 

Child Safeguarding Practice Review (Reference Table 7) 
 
A Child Safeguarding Practice Review (previously Serious Case Review) is conducted when a child is 

seriously harmed, or dies, as a result of abuse or neglect. The review identifies how local 

professionals and organisations can improve the way they work together. Out of the number of child 

death reviews completed throughout the year, the NCMD received information that a Child 

Safeguarding Practice Review was carried out for at least 48 child deaths. Of these, 79% identified 

modifiable factors in the review.  
 

 

 

  

Figure 6:  The number of child death reviews completed by Child Death Overview Panels by location at 
the time of event or illness, Year ending 31 March 2020 
 

 

School not presented in the figure due to low numbers 

 

 

 

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1400

1600

1800

2000

Hospital Home or other
private residence

Public place Hospice Abroad Other/ Not
Known

Reviews where modifiable factors identified Reviews where no modifiable factors identified

Page 63

https://www.ncmd.info/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/Reference-Tables_FINAL.xlsx
https://www.ncmd.info/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/Reference-Tables_FINAL.xlsx


    www.ncmd.info                                                                                                                                            10 

 

 
  

Social care (Reference Table 8) 
 

The NCMD received information on 253 children whose death was reviewed during the year were 

known to social care at the time of their death. Of these, 41% had modifiable factors identified in the 

review. See Table 8 for a detailed breakdown of how these children were known to social care. 

Duration of reviews (Reference Table 2 & Reference Table 3) 
 
740 (27%) reviews completed by CDOPs were of children who died between 1 April 2019 and 31 

March 2020, while 1,998 (73%) reviews were of children who died during previous years.  

 

776 (29%) reviews were finalised within 6 months of the child’s death, while 1,806 (67%) of the 

reviews were finalised within 12 months of the child’s death.  The 909 (33%) reviews that took over 12 

months to complete presented the highest proportion of reviews where modifiable factors were 

identified (44%), compared to 17% for reviews taking under 6 months.  There are a number of factors 

that may contribute to a longer length of time between the death of a child and CDOP review, for 

example; the return of reporting forms, the receipt of the final post mortem report, undertaking of a 

criminal investigation or a Child Safeguarding Practice Review, and receipt of the final report from the 

local child death review meeting. In addition, on occasion when the outcome of a Coroner’s inquest is 

awaited, there may be a longer delay before a case can be reviewed by the CDOP.  

 

 

 

  

Figure 7:  The percentage of reviews completed by Child Death Overview Panels by the number of 
months between the date of death and the date of the Child Death Overview Panel meeting, 
Year ending 31 March 2020 
 

  

 

  

 

 

 

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

40%

45%

50%

Under 6 months 6 - 12 months More than 12 months

Page 64

https://www.ncmd.info/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/Reference-Tables_FINAL.xlsx
https://www.ncmd.info/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/Reference-Tables_FINAL.xlsx
https://www.ncmd.info/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/Reference-Tables_FINAL.xlsx


    www.ncmd.info                                                                                                                                            11 

 

 
  

4.  List of Reference Tables 
 

 

Table 1 Number of child death reviews completed by Child Death Overview Panels by region 

Table 2 Number of child death reviews completed by Child Death Overview Panels by the 
year in which the child death occurred 

Table 3 Time between the death of a child and the completion of the CDOP review 

Table 4 Number of reviews completed by Child Death Overview Panels by category of death 

Table 5 Number of reviews completed by Child Death Overview Panels by event which 
caused the child's death 

Table 6 Number of reviews completed by Child Death Overview Panels by location at time of 
the event or illness which led to the death 

Table 7 Number of reviews completed by Child Death Overview Panels by Child 
Safeguarding Practice Review (previously Serious Case Review) status 

Table 8 Number of reviews completed by Child Death Overview Panels by Social Care status 

Table 9 Number of reviews completed by Child Death Overview Panels by age of the child at 
the time of death, gender and ethnicity 

LAA to 
region 
mapping 

Mapping of local authority areas to regions 

Disclosure 
and 
methodology 

Description of the methodology used in the CSV and Data tables 

Data 
descriptions 

Contains information and field definitions about the accompanying CSV file 

 

All Reference Tables can be found here. 

 

 

5. Further information 
 

 

 
Child death reviews: Year 
ending 31 March 

Previous versions of this publication can be found at the 
following websites: 
2018 and 2019: https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-
information/publications/statistical/child-death-reviews/2019 
2017 and earlier: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/statistics-child-
death-reviews 

Child death review forms The data collection forms used to gather information on child 
deaths can be found here: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/child-death-
reviews-forms-for-reporting-child-deaths 

Child death review 
statutory and operational 
guidance 

The child death review statutory and operational guidance can 
be found here: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/child-death-
review-statutory-and-operational-guidance-england 

Child death review 
process 

For information on the child death review processes, see 
Chapter 5 of the ‘Working Together to Safeguard Children’ 
document which can be found here: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-
to-safeguard-children--2 

Page 65

https://www.ncmd.info/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/Reference-Tables_FINAL.xlsx
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/child-death-reviews/2019
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/child-death-reviews/2019
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/statistics-child-death-reviews
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/statistics-child-death-reviews
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/child-death-reviews-forms-for-reporting-child-deaths
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/child-death-reviews-forms-for-reporting-child-deaths
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/child-death-review-statutory-and-operational-guidance-england
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/child-death-review-statutory-and-operational-guidance-england
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children--2


    www.ncmd.info                                                                                                                                            12 

 

 
  

6. Technical information 
 

 

 

Data in this report represents data that was submitted to the NCMD. As a newly established 

continuing data collection and with some transitional arrangements still ongoing, more data may be 

submitted retrospectively, and the figures represented here may change.  

 

All data was checked by the NCMD team prior to data analysis. This includes exclusion of cases that 

did not meet the criteria for CDOP review and removal of any duplicates.  

 

From May - July 2020 the NCMD team contacted CDOPs to confirm that the data held was correct: 

• 52 CDOPs confirmed that the data held was correct 

• 3 CDOPs were unable to submit so partial data (i.e. only data which they had submitted) were 

included for analysis 

• For a further 3 CDOPs, the NCMD team was unable to confirm whether the data submitted 

was correct. These data have been included but are unconfirmed. 
 

Data was downloaded on 30 September 2020.  

 

In a small number of cases (23 reviews in the year ending 31 March 2020), panels were unable to 

determine if there were modifiable factors in a child’s death as there was insufficient information 

available. These cases have been included in the number of reviews completed in Tables 1 and 2 but 

excluded from Tables 3 to 9. This methodology was kept consistent with previous years’ publications.  

Changes to previous publications 

Data on children subject to a statutory order has been withdrawn from the data collection process, 

and therefore this table is no longer published. 

The number of times which CDOPs met and the number of child deaths where the child was not 

normally resident within the Local Safeguarding Children Board area and are not reported within this 

publication.   

Table 1 now presents data on notifications submitted to the NCMD, rather than death registration data 

from ONS.  

Table 3 has been grouped into smaller timeframes to improve presentation of this data.   

Table 5 and 6 now present slightly different categories to represent changes in data collection. 

Table 8 has been changed due to a change in the structure of how this question is now asked within 

the data collection forms.  

Table 9 was previously presented as Table 10 in previous publications.  

 

For further information on NCMD data processing please see our Privacy Notice. 

Page 66

https://www.ncmd.info/privacy-notice/


    www.ncmd.info                                                                                                                                            13 

 

 
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

National Child Mortality Database (NCMD) 

Child Mortality Analysis Unit,  

Level D, St Michael’s Hospital, Southwell Street, Bristol BS2 8EG 

Email: ncmd-programme@bristol.ac.uk 

Website: www.ncmd.info 

Twitter: @NCMD_England 

 

 

 

 

Page 67

mailto:ncmd-programme@bristol.ac.uk
http://www.ncmd.info/
https://twitter.com/ncmd_england

	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	6 Bury, Rochdale and Oldham Child Death Overview Panel Annual Report 2019-2020
	7 Greater Manchester Child Death Overview Panel Annual Report 2019-2020
	8 National Child Mortality Database Annual Report 2019-2020

